ELSEVIER

Review

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



## Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

# EEG delta oscillations as a correlate of basic homeostatic and motivational processes

### Gennady G. Knyazev\*

Institute of Physiology, Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Medical Sciences, Timakova str., 4, Novosibirsk, 630117, Russia

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 July 2011 Received in revised form 23 September 2011 Accepted 8 October 2011

Keywords: Delta oscillations EEG Evolution Motivation Salience detection Attention

#### ABSTRACT

Functional significance of delta oscillations is not fully understood. One way to approach this question would be from an evolutionary perspective. Delta oscillations dominate the EEG of waking reptiles. In humans, they are prominent only in early developmental stages and during slow-wave sleep. Increase of delta power has been documented in a wide array of developmental disorders and pathological conditions. Considerable evidence on the association between delta waves and autonomic and metabolic processes hints that they may be involved in integration of cerebral activity with homeostatic processes. Much evidence suggests the involvement of delta oscillations in motivation. They increase during hunger, sexual arousal, and in substance users. They also increase during panic attacks and sustained pain. In cognitive domain, they are implicated in attention, salience detection, and subliminal perception. This evidence shows that delta oscillations are associated with evolutionary old basic processes, which in waking adults are overshadowed by more advanced processes associated with higher frequency oscillations. The former processes rise in activity, however, when the latter are dysfunctional.

© 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introc	luction	678	
	1.1.	MacLean's triune brain concept	678	
	1.2.	Delta oscillations from an evolutionary perspective	679	
2.	2. Delta oscillations and basic biological processes			
	2.1.	Delta oscillations in lower vertebrates	680	
	2.2.	Delta oscillations and development	680	
	2.3.	Delta oscillations and sleep	681	
	2.4.	Delta activity and autonomic regulation	682	
	2.5.	Pathological states and delta oscillations	683	
	2.6.	Interim discussion	684	
3.	Delta oscillations, motivation, and cognition			
	3.1.	The place of generation of delta activity	684	
	3.2.	Delta oscillations and motivation	685	
		3.2.1. Delta oscillations and the brain reward systems	685	
		3.2.2. Delta oscillations and primitive defensive mechanisms	688	
	3.3.	Cognitive processing and delta oscillations	689	
	3.4.	Conclusion	689	
4.	Gener	ral conclusion	689	
	Ackno	owledgements	689	
References				

<sup>\*</sup> Tel.: +7 383 333 48 65; fax: +7 383 332 42 54. *E-mail address:* knyazev@physiol.ru

<sup>0149-7634/\$ –</sup> see front matter 0 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.10.002

#### 1. Introduction

Some time ago electroencephalogram (EEG) was considered to be useful only for making inferences about global states of sleep and wakefulness (e.g. Duffy, 1962; Thayer, 1989). The recent resurgence of interest in neuronal oscillations is a result of several developments, which showed that mammalian cortical neurons form behavior-dependent oscillating networks which bias input selection, temporally link neurons into assemblies, and facilitate synaptic plasticity (Buzsaki and Draguhn, 2004). The synchronous activity of oscillating networks is now viewed as the critical "middle ground" linking single-neuron activity to behavior. Growing body of evidence suggests that different levels of cerebral integration mediated by spatial and temporal synchrony over multiple frequency bands could play a key role in the emergence of percepts, memories, emotions, thoughts, and actions (Cantero and Atienza, 2005; Nunez, 2000; Varela et al., 2001). This understanding implies that different frequency oscillations must be associated with different processes.

Ongoing and event-related oscillations are usually categorized into five frequency bands: delta (0.5-3.5 Hz), theta (4-7 Hz), alpha (8–12 Hz), beta (13–30 Hz), and gamma (>30 Hz). These five bands could be meaningfully divided into two categories. Delta, theta, and alpha oscillations are examples of the so-called global processing modes which span relatively large cortical regions and have been hypothesized to serve the purpose of integration across diverse cortical sites by synchronizing coherent activity and phase coupling across widely spatially distributed neural assemblies. Oscillations of beta and gamma ranges, or local EEG modes, are higher in frequency, lower in amplitude, and distributed over a more limited topographic area (Nunez, 1995). It is suggested that dynamic coordination at a timescale of hundreds of milliseconds (such as delta oscillation) may be essential for optimization of distributed representations in the brain, whereas patterns of synchronous local interactions may be coordinated dynamically on a faster timescale. Processes occurring at these two timescales can mutually constrain each other through mechanisms of time-dependent plasticity and experience-dependent consolidation of architectures selected by synchronization (Engel et al., 2010). Fast oscillations (beta and gamma) are essential for coordination of computations in tens of millisecond range in specific cognitive processes. Slow oscillations modulate fast oscillations on a higher level of hierarchy and thus determine the general mode of processing. Highly localized computations may be able to oscillate at higher frequencies while more complex, integrative, or inherently slower computations may result in slower oscillations (Engel et al., 2010). Therefore, oscillations are hierarchically organized with slower oscillations being at higher levels of the hierarchy (meaning they are linked to more basic and general classes of processes).

A large body of evidence suggests that oscillatory activity in all frequency bands is linked to a broad variety of perceptual, sensorimotor, and cognitive operations (Singer, 1999; Basar et al., 2000; Klimesch, 1996; Palva and Palva, 2007). This evidence, however, yields a rather complex picture. While it provides clear cases of task- or context-related modulation of different frequency bands, it does not yet allow making conclusions regarding functional significance of these bands. One way to approach this difficult question would be from an evolutionary perspective (Knyazev and Slobodskaya, 2003; Knyazev et al., 2004). Such approach is inevitably speculative, but having considerable explanatory value it allows unifying data coming from different research domains. The evolutionary interpretation of brain oscillations mostly considers the global mode oscillations of delta, theta, and alpha ranges. It suggests that these three oscillatory modes are associated with brain systems that have different significance at different evolutionary stages. Specifically, delta oscillations are associated with

the most ancient system, which was dominant in the brain of lower vertebrates (reptilian, amphibian, and fish). Theta oscillations dominate in lower mammals. Alpha oscillations are associated with the most advanced system, which dominates in adult humans (Knyazev and Slobodskaya, 2003). This idea is clearly reminiscent of the well known triune brain concept by Paul MacLean (MacLean, 1990), but Knyazev et al. (2004) emphasized that the triune brain concept was used more as a metaphor and the three oscillatory systems do not have to exactly correspond to the anatomical borders of the three brains of the MacLean's model. This review will concentrate on delta oscillations. First, predictions derived from the evolutionary point of view will be formulated. Next, available empirical evidence will be matched against these predictions. But I begin by discussing the viability of the triune brain concept.

#### 1.1. MacLean's triune brain concept

MacLean originally formulated his model in the 1960s and propounded it at length in his 1990 book (MacLean, 1990). It posits that evolutionary processes have endowed humans with essentially three brains: the reptilian complex, the paleomammalian complex, and the neomammalian complex, viewed as structures sequentially added to the forebrain in the course of evolution. The reptilian complex was the name MacLean gave to the set of brain structures comprising the brain stem including much of the reticular system and basal ganglia. MacLean contended that the reptilian complex was responsible for species typical instinctual behaviors involved in aggression, dominance, territoriality, and ritual displays. The paleomammalian complex consists of the septum, amygdala, hypothalamus, hippocampal complex, and the cingulate cortex. Most of these structures are parts of the so-called limbic system (the term coined by MacLean), and MacLean maintained that these structures were responsible for the motivation and emotion involved in feeding, reproductive behavior, and parental behavior. The neomammalian complex consists of the cerebral neocortex. MacLean regarded its addition as the most recent step in the evolution of the human brain, conferring the ability for language, abstraction, planning, and perception. Subsequent findings have invalidated the traditional neuroanatomical ideas upon which MacLean based his hypothesis. The model of evolution characterized by accretion of parts that MacLean proposed has been entirely replaced by another model that emphasizes conservation of fundamental segmental structure (Rubenstein et al., 1994, 1998). For instance, most areas of neocortex (the neomammalian complex in the MacLean's model) have homologues in amphibian and other vertebrate brains, suggesting that the mammalian neocortex was not added like icing onto an already baked cake, but was radically transformed from a series of precursors (Striedter, 2005). Moreover, Striedter (2005) observes that "brains are like companies - they must reorganize as they increase in size in order to stay functional" (p. 127). Firstly, the brain's average connection density must decrease with increasing brain size; otherwise the number of axons would increase explosively with neuron number, racking up enormous costs in terms of space and metabolic energy (Striedter, 2005). This decrease in average connection density implies that brains become more modular, both structurally and functionally, as they increase in size (Jacobs and Jordan, 1992). Local connections alone place major constraints on global synchrony in growing brains. The densely connected local neuron networks are supplemented by a small fraction of long-range connections (Braitenberg and Schutz, 1998). Despite the progressively decreasing fraction of long-range connections in larger brains, synchronization of local and distant networks can be readily accomplished by oscillators because of the low energy costs involved in coupling rhythms (Buzsaki and Draguhn, 2004). That means that significance of oscillations must increase in large brains. Available evidence shows that

this is indeed the case. Invertebrates have much more obvious unit spiking than vertebrates, but much less relative amplitude of slow (<50 Hz) waves (Bullock, 1993). EEG-like activity could be recorded in the octopus brain but not in other, less developed invertebrates (Bullock, 1984; Bullock and Basar, 1988). Among vertebrates the degree of synchronization also increases during evolution. There is evidence of less synchrony or more rapid coherence decline with distance in reptiles, amphibians, and fish than in mammals (Bullock, 1997, 2002).

Secondly, the principle 'late equals large' causes late-born regions, such as the neocortex, to become disproportionately large as absolute brain size goes up (Striedter, 2005). As brain regions increase in absolute and/or proportional size, they frequently change in internal organization. Another principle that helps explain some variation in neuronal connectivity is Deacon's (1990) displacement hypothesis, which Striedter (2005) calls the rule of 'large equals well-connected.' It holds that, whenever a brain region increases in proportional size, it tends to receive more inputs and project to more targets than it did ancestrally. The human neocortex projects directly to and throughout the brain stem and spinal cord (Barret et al., 2007). As a result, humans (and other great apes) have greater direct and indirect cortical control over the subcortex and spinal cord than do rats, allowing greater autonomic and behavioral diversity and flexibility.

All these recent developments largely invalidate evolutionary ideas that were put in the base of the MacLean's triune model. However, this model continues to hold interest for some psychologists and members of the general public because of its focus on the recognizable differences between most reptiles, early mammals, and late mammals. Reasons for the success are its simplicity; the theory in this form recognizes three major evolutionary periods in the development of the brain that are characterized by three recognizably distinct ways of solving adaptive challenges. The three functional domains described by the original triune model, wherever located, remain useful organizing themes and concepts. Indeed, it is difficult to deny that evolution tends to preserve devices that proved to be useful at a certain stage, and late-born more advanced devices do not usually replace the old ones but coexist with them. Thus, neurobiologically, mammals are distinguished mainly by their neocortex, which has non-mammalian precursors but is highly modified and genuinely new. Looking beyond the neocortex, we find that mammal brains are similar, though not identical, to reptile brains (Striedter, 2005). These 'old' devices that are preserved in the mammal brain continue to do their job in much the same way they did it in lower vertebrates, though closely supervised by advanced 'new' devices. Much evidence shows that late-born advanced brain mechanisms are last to appear and first to extinct in the course of individual development and are more vulnerable to detrimental environmental influences. As Jackson (1958) once famously noted, "The higher nervous arrangement inhibit (or control) the lower, and thus, when the higher are suddenly rendered functionless, the lower rise in activity". Hence, although modern advances in the field of evolutionary neuroscience show that the general picture is much more complicated than perhaps John Hughlings Jackson and even Paul MacLean once described, their core idea about coexistence in the human brain of functional domains that in the evolution were associated with distinct ways of solving adaptive challenges is still viable and productive.

#### 1.2. Delta oscillations from an evolutionary perspective

The most important difference between the MacLean's model and the evolutionary interpretation of brain oscillations is that the former deals with anatomically defined parts of the human brain whereas the latter deals with brain oscillations whose relation to specific brain structures is a complicated and not fully resolved question. Contemporary neuroanatomy emphasizes conservation of fundamental segmental structure as the main principle of the evolution of vertebrates (Rubenstein et al., 1994, 1998). Even neocortex, the most advanced part of the mammalian brain, is hypothesized to evolve from tri-laminar reptilian dorsal cortex (Puelles, 2001; Reiner, 1993). Applying this principle to oscillations, it is reasonable to suggest that the three oscillatory systems should exist at all stages of vertebrate evolution. Indeed, delta, theta and alpha frequencies could be found in each vertebrate (Basar, 1998), but their relative amplitudes are remarkably different in different species. Accordingly, functions, which are presumably linked with the three global oscillatory systems, should be present in all vertebrates, but emphasis and dominance of some functional and behavioral patterns should differ across different species.

In this review I will try to defend the thesis that delta oscillations manifest the most ancient oscillatory mode, comparative to higher frequency oscillations. To comply with this thesis, delta oscillations must (1) dominate in EEGs of lower vertebrates (particularly reptiles, the direct mammal's ancestors). 'Dominate' in this context means that they not only must have the highest power in the spectrum (comparative to theta and alpha frequencies), but be the most functionally 'active' oscillations, which are more pronounced during typical to these species activity and in response to environmental challenges. (2) In humans, in compliance with the principle first formulated by Jackson (1958), delta oscillations must be more pronounced in conditions that are associated with diminished activity of the 'higher', or more advanced 'nervous arrangements'. These conditions include: (a) earlier developmental stages, when 'higher nervous arrangements' are yet in the process of maturation; (b) deep sleep, when the brain is in a state of functional decortications (Rial et al., 2007b); (c) pathological states caused by detrimental environmental factors, developmental pathology, or damage to brain tissue.

Besides these general predictions, evolutionary interpretation allows a number of more specific predictions about association of delta oscillations with behavior and physiological processes. These predictions could be derived basing on the main premise of the evolutionary interpretation, namely, that the oscillatory system, which dominates the EEG of particular species, should be linked to functions and behavioral patterns that dominate the behavior of these species. The behavior of lower vertebrates is dominated by patterns directly oriented to the acquisition of biologically important goals such as physical maintenance, survival, dominance, and mating. To be adaptive, such behavior requires constant feedback from sensors signaling deviation from optimal homeostasis. Hence, delta activity is expected to be sensitive to internal stimuli signaling such deviations (e.g., during hypoxia, hypoglikemia, fatigue, pain), as well as to the stimuli signaling a need for sexual activity (e.g. the level of sexual hormones). It should be implicated in monitoring of autonomic functions, such as breathing and heartbeat, because these functions are critical for survival. Since behavior that is oriented to satisfaction of basic biological needs is mostly guided by activity of the brain reward systems, delta oscillations are expected to be sensitive to signals coming from these systems. In particular, that should be evident with respect to drugs of abuse which directly influence the brain reward systems. Because the detection of motivational salience of environmental stimuli is supposed to be the main function of the brain reward systems (Gray, 1999), delta activity is expected to play a leading part in this process. Besides, delta activity is expected to be associated with primitive defense mechanisms which in humans are mostly rudimentary.

In the following text, available empirical evidence will be matched against these predictions. This text will be divided into two sections. The first section will review the evidence on the presence of delta oscillations in lower vertebrates and at different developmental and circadian cycle stages, as well as the evidence on association of delta oscillations with autonomic regulation and pathological processes. The second section will review the evidence on the place of generation of delta activity and its association with motivation and cognitive processes.

#### 2. Delta oscillations and basic biological processes

#### 2.1. Delta oscillations in lower vertebrates

If delta oscillations indeed represent an evolutionary old oscillatory mode, they must dominate in EEGs of lower vertebrates, particularly during typical for these species behavior. During his fruitful career, Theodor Bullock has undertaken the most considerable effort to collect comparative EEG data. Analysis of these data allowed him to formulate two basic generalizations. The first one reflects a drastic difference in the EEGs between all vertebrates and all invertebrates (with the exception of cephalopods, Bullock, 1984). The typical invertebrate record of ongoing electrical activity is spiky with single unit and compound spikes of one or a few milliseconds width, riding on slow waves that are usually inconspicuous, whereas in all vertebrates, slow waves are omnipresent and relatively stronger. This observation is in line with the above discussed idea that oscillations appear in vertebrates as a mechanism for integration of cerebral activity which is only needed in large brains and is not necessary in small brains of most invertebrates, with the exception of cephalopods, which have relatively larger brains. The second generalization affirms that the raw recordings and the power spectra look alike in all the vertebrates falling quite steeply on each side of a maximum around 5-15 Hz (Bullock, 1993), meaning that oscillations of all frequency ranges could be found in EEGs of all vertebrates. However, different species differ on which frequency dominates the EEG spectrum. In all poikilotherm vertebrates, the highest EEG power is found in the delta range (Bullock and Basar, 1988; Bullock, 2003; Nicolaua et al., 2000), whereas mammalian EEG is dominated by theta or alpha oscillations.

Several studies have been performed recently to directly compare reptilian EEG to that of mammals. To compare the ongoing electrical activity in possibly homologous structures of reptiles and mammals, Gaztelu et al. (1991) recorded the EEG from major parts of the cortex of unanesthetized turtles (Pseudemys) and geckos (Gekko) with and without acute and chronic stimuli. In both species, the EEG spectrum was dominated by a single maximum at about 2 Hz. The immobility-related theta activity, so characteristic of the hippocampus in a number of mammals, was not found in the medial cortex (the possible homolog of the mammalian hippocampus) of either species of reptile under a variety of conditions. De Vera et al. (1994) computed the power spectrum of Gallotia galloti lizard's EEG at different body temperatures. EEG power spectra were mainly characterized by a low frequency peak between 0.5 and 4Hz which was present at the different body temperatures. Flash evoked potentials were characterized by a slow triphasic component upon which a spindle was superimposed, adopting morphology similar to the K complexes of mammalian sleep. The authors conclude that characteristics of this EEG and evoked potentials support the hypothesis of homology between the waking state of the reptiles and the slow-wave sleep of mammals. This hypothesis was further confirmed by comparing the presence of fractal or nonlinear structure in lizard G. galloti during open and closed eyes with those reported for human slow-wave sleep (Gonzalez et al., 1999).

On the other hand, many earlier studies repeatedly recognized the absence of delta waves in EEGs of turtles (Strejkowa and Servit, 1973; Walker and Berger, 1973; Flanigan, 1974; Flanigan et al., 1974), lizards (Flanigan, 1973), snakes (Peyreton and Dusan-Peyreton, 1969) and crocodiles (Flanigan et al., 1973; Warner and Huggins, 1978). Basing on these observations, Rattenborg (2006) put forward a hypothesis that the evolution of slow waves is linked to the independent evolution of extensive palliopallial connectivity in mammals and birds. The absence of slow waves in sleeping reptiles suggests that the neuroanatomical and neurophysiological traits necessary for the genesis of slow waves evolved independently in the mammalian and avian ancestors and are absent in reptiles (Rattenborg, 2006). This idea has been criticized by Rial et al. (2007a), who noted that the review by Rattenborg (2006) missed important aspects in relation to the characteristics of sleep in poikilotherm vertebrates and in the evolution of sleep. Poikilotherms continuously show an EEG dominated by slow waves, but its highest amplitude appears not during sleep, but during active waking. In addition, they show an arousal reaction which consists in an increase in EEG delta amplitude and synchrony, opposite to mammals and birds (Rial et al., 2007a).

Indeed, as Rial et al. (2010) show, the above noted contradiction may be explained by taking into account the relationship between EEG amplitude and animal's activity: cool and resting reptiles show minimal EEG amplitude. However, warm and active animals show slow waves with amplitudes which often surpass the normative value of 75 mV to be included within the delta EEG range (De Vera et al., 1994). Further, Rial et al. (2010) dismiss the assertion that the reptilian delta waves might be a reflection of respiratory activity (Rattenborg, 2007). They show that although EEG delta and breathing indeed significantly correlate with each other in Gallotia lizards, the power in the low frequency range turns out to be higher during apneic intervals which in these animals occur in states of maximal arousal. This fact confirms that the highest EEG delta amplitude occurs in these animals in parallel with behavioral activation. The authors conclude that reptilian wakefulness could be named Slow-Wave Wakefulness (Rial et al., 2010). In their comprehensive review of this issue, Rial et al. (2010) propose that (1) the active state of reptiles is a form of subcortical waking, without homology with the cortical waking of mammals; (2) reptilian waking gave origin to mammalian sleep; (3) reptilian basking behavior evolved into non-rapid eye movement sleep (NREM); (4) postbasking risk assessment behavior, with motor suspension, head dipping movements, eye scanning and stretch attending postures, evolved into phasic rapid eye movement sleep (REM); (5) postbasking, goal directed behavior evolved into tonic REM and (6) nocturnal rest evolved to shallow torpor.

From this brief review of comparative data we may conclude that there is a clear distinction between mammals and lower vertebrates in the spectral composition of EEG and its correlation with behavior. During wake, mammals' EEG is dominated by theta and alpha oscillations, and typical reaction to environmental events consists of alpha desynchronization and theta synchronization (Klimesch, 1999), although event-related delta enhancement is also frequently observed. During slow-wave sleep (SWS) theta and alpha disappear and delta oscillations dominate the EEG of mammals. In reptiles (and probably other lower vertebrates), theta and alpha oscillations are not conspicuous in the EEG, which in active states is dominated by delta oscillations. The typical reaction to environmental challenges consists of prominent increase of the amplitude of delta waves. During sleep, oscillations (including delta) are extinguished and EEG shows arrhythmic sporadic activity. Table 1 presents a summary of main EEG features in reptiles, rodents, and humans during sleep, quiet wake, and arousal.

#### 2.2. Delta oscillations and development

In accord with the principle that ontogeny recapitulates phylogeny, low frequency oscillations dominate the human EEG during early developmental stages. The so-called delta brushes are the

#### Table 1

Summary of main EEG features in reptiles, rodents, and humans during sleep, quiet wake, and arousal (relevant literature is cited in the text).

	Sleep	Wake	Arousal
Reptiles	No waves, or low amplitude delta	EEG is dominated by delta	Increase of delta amplitude + spindles 7–14 Hz
Rodents	SWS-EEG is dominated by delta	EEG is dominated by theta	Increase of theta amplitude + alpha desynchronization
Humans	SWS-EEG is dominated by delta	EEG is dominated by alpha	Mostly alpha desynchronization

dominant pattern of oscillatory activity in the human cortex during the third trimester of gestation (Scher, 2008). Random or briefly rhythmic 0.3–1.5 Hz delta activity of 50–250 µV is associated with a superimposed rhythm of low to moderately faster frequencies of 10-20 Hz. Historically, different authors have described these complexes as spindle delta bursts, brushes, spindle-like fast waves or ripples of prematurity (Scher, 2008). Delta patterns in the central or midline locations are predominant for the infant at less than 28 weeks' gestation. Other delta rhythms occur in the temporal and occipital locations particularly after 28 weeks' gestation (Selton et al., 2000). Between 30 and 34 weeks' postmenstrual age, temporal and occipital delta rhythms become quite prominent and rhythmic, with durations that may exceed 30s to 1 min (Scher, 2008). In infants who were < or =30 weeks of gestation, the median relative power of the delta band increased significantly from 68% on day 1 to 81% on day 4 (Bell et al., 1991; Victor et al., 2005). In healthy infants in the eyes open awake condition, the delta activity does not substantially change at the end of the first year of life, compared with the first 3 months, whereas theta and alpha activity notably increases (Vladimirova, 1991). During further development of resting state activity, there is a reduction in the amplitude of slow-wave (delta and theta) rhythms, while faster rhythms (alpha, beta, and gamma) increase during childhood and adolescence (John et al., 1980; Matousek and Petersen, 1973). This dynamic is generally considered as a sign of maturation (Clarke et al., 2001).

#### 2.3. Delta oscillations and sleep

From the standpoint of this review, sleep is an interesting natural model of functional decortication (Rial et al., 2007b), when advanced operational brain systems are inactive and, in accordance with the principle formulated by Jackson (1958), 'lower nervous arrangements' must rise in activity. Indeed, in adult humans, delta oscillations are most evident during the slow-wave sleep (SWS) and till now overwhelming majority of delta oscillation-related publications concern sleep. Abundance of these publications precludes their adequate coverage here and reader is referred to many recently published reviews discussing different aspects of sleep including its evolutionary roots (Lee Kavanau, 2002; Rattenborg, 2006; Rattenborg et al., 2009; Rial et al., 2010) and possible functional significance (Diekelmann and Born, 2010; Frank, 2006; Rial et al., 2007b; Vassalli and Dijk, 2009).

Most animals have been found to sleep or exhibit a sleep-like state (Siegel, 2005). The fact that animals die when deprived of sleep (Montagna et al., 2003; Rechtschaffen and Bergmann, 2002), indicates that sleep serves a vital function. This function, however, is still a matter of debate (Rechtschaffen and Bergmann, 2002; Siegel, 2005; Stickgold and Walker, 2005; Vertes and Siegel, 2005). Although most animals have sleep-like states, only mammals and birds exhibit the electroencephalographic patterns that characterize the sub-states of mammalian sleep, slow-wave sleep (SWS) and rapid eye movement (REM) sleep (Campbell and Tobler, 1984). The SWS consists in a general slowing of most bodily functions and in a diminished responsiveness to sensory stimuli. The EEG is characterized by high voltage low frequency activity, spindles in the 14Hz range, and high voltage isolated waves, which often occur either spontaneously or after sensory stimulation (K-complexes). REM sleep shows a deep muscular relaxation, but sudden eye

movements and muscular twitches occur. EEG is similar to that of waking, with low voltage, mixed frequencies (Nicolaua et al., 2000). The taxonomy of SWS waves is not always clear in humans. Unit recordings have shown that neuronal activity during SWS is characterized by a fundamental oscillation of membrane potential. This so-called 'slow oscillation' (<1 Hz) is recorded in all major types of neocortical neurons during SWS (Steriade and McCarley, 2005; Steriade et al., 1993b). Delta rhythm (1–4Hz) is another characteristic oscillation of SWS. The neural underpinnings of SWS delta rhythm remain uncertain. In the dorsal thalamus, a clock-like delta rhythm is generated by the interplay of two intrinsic membrane currents, although another delta rhythm survives complete thalamectomy (Steriade and McCarley, 2005). Whether the difference between slow waves and delta waves is qualitative or quantitative remains unclear (Dang-Vu et al., 2008). It is suggested that the slow waves are generated directly within cortical circuits, whereas delta rhythm is derived from intrinsic properties of thalamocortical cells and from intracortical network interactions (Steriade and McCarley, 2005). Therefore, the slow and the delta waves should be considered distinct processes. In line with this hypothesis, EEG power densities within slow and delta frequency bands differ in their dynamics through the night (Achermann and Borbely, 1997). The other hypothesis views slow waves and delta waves as realizations of a unique process, which varies in a continuous parameter space. The amplitude and slope of the waves reflect the level of synchronization achieved in cortical neural ensembles, which depends on the local homeostatically regulated average synaptic strength (Esser et al., 2007). In keeping with this hypothesis, Dang-Vu et al. (2008) have not found significant difference in brain activation when comparing slow waves and delta waves at the macroscopic systems level. Because the distinction between delta oscillations and the 'slow waves' (i.e., <1 Hz) is not definitely determined, for the purpose of this review, I will consider all oscillations below 4 Hz as a single phenomenon.

Another important question is whether SWS delta and waking delta represent the same oscillation. Studies correlating positron emission tomography (PET) and EEG showed a positive correlation between waking delta and PET metabolism in the medial frontal cortex (Alper et al., 1998, 2006). On the other hand, earlier studies of SWS sleep by using PET (Maquet, 2000) or block-design fMRI (Kaufmann et al., 2006) found decreased brain activity during SWS sleep, suggesting that SWS delta differs from waking delta in its relation to brain metabolism (e.g., Alper, 1999). However, a later more stringent fMRI study have found only positive correlations between slow waves and delta on the one hand and fMRI BOLD signal on the other (Dang-Vu et al., 2008).

Three theories have been proposed to explain the evolution of the two mammalian sleep stages. The 'REM first' hypothesis suggests that REM should be considered the primitive sleep (Tauber et al., 1966). The opposite hypothesis ('SWS first') was proposed by Allison and collaborators (Allyson and Van Twiver, 1970). Finally, Rial et al. (1993, 2010) proposed that the SWS is the result of converting what could be called the Slow-Wave Waking of poikilotherms into the SWS (Nicolaua et al., 2000). This latter theory has been criticized by Rattenborg (2007) who argued that although waking and active reptiles indeed show delta activity similar to the one observed in mammals during SWS, this activity is still less synchronized or lower in amplitude. Besides, the proposed conversion of reptilian wakefulness into SWS is untenable from behavioral, mechanistic, and functional perspectives. A more parsimonious explanation is that the precursor state to SWS in homeotherms was a state comparable to reptilian sleep, rather than wakefulness, with the primary difference being that the reptilian dorsal cortex lacks the interconnectivity necessary to generate sleep-related slow waves in the EEG. Actually, the hypotheses proposed by Rial et al. (1993, 2010) and by Rattenborg (2006) do not seem mutually exclusive. The fact that oscillation amplitudes and the degree of their synchronization are larger in mammals than in reptiles (Bullock, 1997) is in line with current understanding that the need for oscillation as a mechanism for cerebral integration dramatically increases with increasing brain size. In keeping with that, mammals have larger synchrony of all oscillations, including the delta waves. This, however, may not deny the fact that in mammals delta waves dominate only during SWS, whereas in reptiles they are most pronounced during active waking. Interestingly, both in cats and humans, EEG responses to external stimuli during SWS are predominantly evident in the delta range of frequencies (Basar, 1999), which again is similar to what is observed in waking reptiles. This similarity makes it possible to consider mammalian SWS and reptilian waking as possible evolutionary homologues in relation to delta oscillations.

Such understanding has profound implications for deducing possible significance of delta oscillations in mammals. Indeed, we have to accept that in reptiles, delta oscillations represent the dominant oscillatory mode which is most prominent during active behavioral states and demonstrates the most salient oscillatory response to environmental challenges, while EEG of behaviorally active mammals is dominated by theta and alpha oscillations, which in these animals show the most salient responses to environmental challenges. During SWS, when active behavior is not on agenda, the dominant operational oscillatory modes pass away and, in line with the John Hughlings Jackson's principle, more ancient and fundamental oscillatory mode rises in activity. It could be speculated that this periodic return to an evolutionary prototypal state is necessary for reconciling the experience acquired during the active state with the fundamental biological self. Indeed, the most currently popular hypothesis about functional significance of SWS posits that it is necessary for consolidation of memory traces acquired during the wake (Ji and Wilson, 2007; Marshall et al., 2006; Peigneux et al., 2004; Rasch et al., 2007). Using simultaneous EEG and fMRI recording, Dang-Vu et al. (2008) have recently shown that during SWS, significant increases in activity were associated with slow waves (<1 Hz, >140  $\mu$ V) and delta waves (1–4 Hz,  $75-140 \,\mu\text{V}$ ) in several cortical areas, including the inferior frontal, medial prefrontal, precuneus, and posterior cingulate areas. Compared with baseline activity, slow waves were associated with significant activity in the parahippocampal gyrus, cerebellum, and brainstem, whereas delta waves were related to frontal responses. However, no significant difference in brain activation was found when comparing slow waves and delta waves at the macroscopic systems level. The pattern of activation that is related to delta and slow-wave oscillations during SWS allows put forward an interesting hypothesis. The brain regions that are obviously integrated by slow oscillations during SWS include 'old' pontine tegmentum and midbrain nuclei, the parahippocampal gyrus, a major relay area between the hippocampus and neocortex (Mohedano-Moriano et al., 2007), and a set of cortical regions associated with the socalled default mode network (DMN, Raichle, 2006). Ample evidence suggests that this latter network, which is mostly active during resting wakefulness, is associated with self-referential processes that constitute the core of the self (Gobbini et al., 2007; Mitchell, 2006). Noteworthy, the association of sleep slow waves with DMN structures has been confirmed in a study using high-density EEG source modeling (Murphy et al., 2009). Therefore, the triangle of

co-activated areas consists of the 'old' brainstem structures involved in major homeostatic regulation, the parahippocampal areas associated with acquisition and interpretation of new experience, and the DMN structures representing the core self-referential processes. It appears that this every-night reconciliation of daytime experience with basic biological and self-referential processes is vital for preserving integrity of the self.

#### 2.4. Delta activity and autonomic regulation

If delta oscillations are implicated in coordination of behavior with basic biological and homeostatic needs, they must participate in synchronization of brain activity with autonomic functions. That may be particularly so during sleep, when active behavior is not on agenda and mostly restorative physiological processes take place. It has been shown that the prevalence and amplitude of delta oscillations during sleep are critically dependent on the time we are awake before we fall asleep, as well as the time passed since sleep onset. This observation led Alexander Borbely (1982) to propose that delta power is an EEG correlate of a homeostatically regulated sleep-dependent process, which he coined 'Process S'. Although later observations indicate that it is not all that simple and that differences in waking 'quality' do affect EEG delta power during subsequent SWS sleep (Meerlo et al., 1997), slow-wave activity is still thought to mediate the restorative function of SWS (Borbely and Achermann, 2000; Tononi and Cirelli, 2006). It is suggested that slow oscillations might help synaptic consolidation or produce synaptic downscaling to increase signal-to-noise ratios (Tononi and Cirelli, 2006). Another possible mechanism of the restorative function of slow-wave activity is replenishment of the glycogen that is depleted during wakefulness (Benington and Heller, 1995). SWS may have restorative properties not only for the brain, but also for peripheral organs. A selective reduction in SWS and slow-wave activity for only a few nights was shown to result in a clear adverse effect on glucose homeostasis and increased risk of type 2 diabetes in young healthy adults (Tasali et al., 2008). Taken together, these studies suggest that delta wave generation is important for normal functioning of both the brain and peripheral organs. This implies that measures of delta activity must correlate with measures of autonomic activity and metabolism. In this section, evidence showing that this is indeed the case will be reviewed.

Within the so-called common brainstem system (CBS), which implements basic regulation and exerts influences on cardiovascular system, respiration, motor systems, processing of the afferences, and on vigilance (Moruzzi, 1972; Langhorst et al., 1992), mainly respiratory related rhythms, cardiac rhythms, and rhythms related to the delta-theta rhythms of the EEG occur (Langhorst et al., 1981; Lambertz and Langhorst, 1998). Lambertz et al. (2000) showed that the functional organization of this system seems to be dependent on the coupling between the cortical and the reticular formation (RF) delta oscillations. The authors suppose that "either higher brain structures signalize the beginning of the phase transition to the RF or - even more probable - the CBS in the RF induces a general activation in the CNS via its ascending pathways" (Lambertz et al., 2000). These results confirm and complement previous investigations on the rhythmic coordination of different peripheral and central subsystems which occurs within the range of low EEG frequencies (Lambertz and Langhorst, 1998). The bulk of evidence suggests that the cortical delta rhythm may not be implemented in the direct on-line autonomic regulation but rather reflects a central representation of peripherally occurring autonomic changes (Lambertz and Langhorst, 1998).

Heart rate variability is one of the most frequently used indicators of autonomic regulation. High-frequency (HF) heart rate variability is associated with breathing and depends on vagal regulation (for a review and theory see Porges, 1995). Low frequency (LF) heart rate variability is believed to more reflect sympathetic than parasympathetic influences (e.g. Snidman et al., 1995). Existing evidence shows an association between heart rate variability and delta activity during NREM and REM sleep. Modifications in HF heart rate variability show parallel changes with changes in delta EEG band both in young and in middle-aged men (Jurysta et al., 2005). Contrariwise, LF heart rate variability moderately negatively relates to the sleep delta power (Ako et al., 2003). Correspondingly, the LF/HF ratio is significantly negatively correlated with delta power in humans (Yang et al., 2002) and in rats (Yang et al., 2003) which is taken as an evidence of negative association between delta and sympathetic activity. The link between cardiac autonomic activity and sleep delta power is altered in patients with major depressive disorder (Jurysta et al., 2010) and sleep apneahypopnea syndrome (Jurysta et al., 2006), as well as in patients with chronic primary insomnia (Jurysta et al., 2009). The association between delta power and heart rate variability was also observed during REM sleep (Pedemonte et al., 2005). Overnight delta activity also negatively relates to the mean arterial pressure (Charloux et al., 2002) and the cortisol secretory rate (Gronfier et al., 1999), which again suggests that during sleep, power of delta oscillations is negatively related to sympathetic activity. It is important to emphasize that observed in these studies modifications in autonomic measures precede changes in delta EEG band activity by several minutes (Brandenberger et al., 2001) implying a reflective rather than a regulative role for the EEG delta activity. In patients with periodic limb movement disorder, the periodic limb movement onset is heralded by changes of HR and EEG delta activity (Ferrillo et al., 2004; Allena et al., 2009). The authors suggest that this and similar phenomena can be linked to the activity of a common brainstem system, which receives peripheral inputs, regulating the vascular, cardiac, and respiratory activities and synchronizing them to cortical oscillations of EEG. It is shown also that SWS delta power is sensitive to interleukin-1 $\beta$  (Yasuda et al., 2005) and lipopolysaccharide (Lancel et al., 1995), suggesting a role in information exchange between immune and nervous systems. Preoptic/anterior hypothalamic warming has been shown to increase EEG delta activity within NREM sleep with no effect on theta or sigma frequencies (McGinty et al., 1994). SWS delta power also correlates with the restorative biosynthetic processes occurring during sleep in the brain (Dworak et al., 2010).

In one of a few studies where an association of delta activity with autonomic measures was observed in waking, the total severity of cybersickness during exposure of subjects to virtual reality had a significant positive correlation with gastric tachyarrhythmia, eyeblink rate, heart period, and EEG delta wave power (Kim et al., 2005). EEG delta power recorded in 1831 healthy subjects aged 6-86 years in eyes open condition correlated positively with basal metabolic rate over the human lifespan (Boord et al., 2007). It has been also shown that in 28 hypertensives, audiovisual entrainment in the subdelta frequency (0.5-1 Hz) had marked effects on blood pressure, reducing the systolic 20 points and diastolic 15 points (Siever and Berg, 2002). The authors suggest that this treatment directly impacts physiological functions rather than psychological ones. In sum, reviewed in this section data support the idea that delta oscillations (particularly during sleep) may participate in synchronization of brain activity with autonomic functions.

#### 2.5. Pathological states and delta oscillations

Because the new-born more advanced brain devices specialize on performing more complex computations, they should be generally more sensitive to detrimental influences, and, when these devices are rendered functionless, 'lower nervous arrangements' must rise in activity (Jackson, 1958). Indeed in the pre-quantitative EEG era, appearance of prominent delta waves during wake was treated as a sign of pathology. Existing evidence shows that delta activity increases in almost any pathological state associated with brain tissue damage, developmental disorder, or even more subtle disorders without known organic cause. Localized delta activity appears in cortex overlying a circumscribed white matter lesion, or after a localized thalamic or midbrain tegmentum lesion (Gloor et al., 1977). The volume of lesions was correlated with delta power and the origin of the equivalent dipoles for delta oscillations was shown to be within the volume of the lesion (Harmony et al., 1995). The so-called frontal intermittent rhythmic delta activity (FIRDA) is associated with a wide range of lesions and encephalopathic conditions (Ettore et al., 2011). Delta amplitude is overall higher in chronic aphasic patients with structural lesion in the left cortical-subcortical perisylvian areas. Delta band, in addition to its ability to reflect structural damage, was effective in the assessment of functional impairment in these patients as well (Spironelli and Angrilli, 2009).

Hypoxia is yet another condition associated with brain tissue damage or suppression, because the brain is particularly sensitive with respect to its oxygen requirement (Sudarsky, 1990). In EEG, hypoxia is associated with a decrease of alpha and prevalence of slow waves. Thus, the reduction of cerebral blood flow caused by cerebral ischemia has been suggested to be related to the slowing of the background EEG activity (Ingvar and Sulg, 1969). Increased slow-wave components have also been observed in patients with cerebral ischemia caused by reduction of the cortical blood flow (Nagata et al., 1989; Tolonen and Sulg, 1981). The EEG change in hypoxic hypoxia has been reported to be similar to that in ischemic hypoxia (Meyer and Waltz, 1960; Saletu and Grunberger, 1985; Kraaier et al., 1988b). In the experimental study of cerebral hypoxia, Kraaier et al. (1988a) compared the spectral power under the normobaric normoxic condition with that recorded under the hypobaric hypoxic condition corresponding to the altitude of 6096 m. They found a significant increase in slow activity as well as a significant decrease in alpha activity under the simulated hypobaric condition. Ozaki et al. (1995) reported similar results. EEG study during a Himalayan expedition showed that subjects who later developed symptoms of acute mountain sickness exhibited an increase of slow cerebral activity in the right temporal region already at 3440 m. These findings indicate that regional brain dysfunction, which can be documented by slow-wave EEG, heralds the appearance of clinical symptoms of acute mountain sickness (Feddersen et al., 2007).

Wide range of developmental disorders is associated with the increase of relative power in low EEG frequencies including delta and theta waves. The most consistent finding in EEG studies of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) has been increased low frequency activity, predominantly theta, but also delta in children with ADHD compared with control children (for a review, see Barry et al., 2003). Excess of spectral power in low frequency bands is also associated with disorders of learning and attention in children (Barry et al., 2003; Chabot et al., 2001). Children with dyslexia showed greater overall delta amplitude (Penolazzi et al., 2008). Studies which have examined the influence of adverse early rearing conditions or sociocultural risk factors on the development of the EEG in children have generally reported higher EEG power at low frequencies to be associated with detrimental aspects of the child's living environment (Harmony et al., 1990; Kreppner et al., 2001; Marshall and Fox, 2004; Otero et al., 1997; Raine et al., 2001; Vorria et al., 1998). Moreover, increases in delta and theta activity were found in the EEGs of fetal alcohol syndrome and Down syndrome children (Babiloni et al., 2009a; Kaneko, 1995). In adult populations, increase of baseline delta power was observed in patients with schizophrenia (Alfimova and Uvarova, 2003; Bates et al., 2009; Boutros et al., 2008; Fehr et al., 2001; Karson et al., 1987), Parkinson's disease (Soikkeli et al., 1991; Zijlmans et al., 1998), Alzheimer's disease (Babiloni et al., 2009b; Valladares-Neto et al., 1995), depression (Bjørk et al., 2008; Gatt et al., 2008; Korb et al., 2008; Saletu et al., 2010), anxiety disorder (Gauthier et al., 2009), phylogenetic fears (Bornas et al., 2009), obsessive compulsive disorder (Olbrich et al., 2009; Velikova et al., 2010), and in young adults born at extremely low birth weight (Miskovic et al., 2009). It has been shown also that dissociative experiences which appear in torture victims are associated with slow waves generated in the left ventrolateral frontal cortex (Ray et al., 2006).

Because anhedonia, the reduced propensity to experience pleasure, is a vulnerability factor for several psychiatric disorders, including depression and schizophrenia, it is important to note that in a non-clinical sample, anhedonia, but not other symptoms of depression or anxiety, was correlated with increased resting delta current density in the rostral anterior cingulate cortex (Wacker et al., 2009). Increased theta and delta power have been associated with poor antidepressant treatment response in patients with depression (Knott et al., 2000). However, conflicting evidence has also been reported. For example, Coutin-Churchman et al. (2003) compared 67 normal human beings and 340 psychiatric patients on EEG spectral power measures and found increase in slow bands in only 24 recordings that were scattered between various conditions, including polysubstance dependence, epilepsy, bipolar disorder, and also two normal subjects, whereas decrease in slow bands was found in 75 recordings from psychiatric patients. These discrepancies could be attributed to the different methodologies used for the calculation of EEG measures (e.g., absolute vs. relative power), different conditions (e.g., eyes open vs. eyes-closed condition), different periods of time (e.g., evening vs. morning: see e.g., Gauthier et al., 2009) and so on.

Summing up, a variety of mental conditions associated with brain tissue damage or pathology, like Alzheimer's disease, as well as developmental disorders and prominent psychopathologies, like schizophrenia or Down syndrome are undoubtedly associated with an increase of resting state delta oscillations. Some more subtle disorders, like depression, obsessive compulsive, and anxiety disorder have also been reported to be associated with an increase of delta power, although further research is needed to clarify whether this is indeed so.

#### 2.6. Interim discussion

Reviewed so far evidence shows that delta oscillations dominate the EEGs of waking and active reptiles. In humans, delta oscillations are prominent during early developmental stages and decrease in the course of normal development. In adult healthy humans, EEG dominated by delta waves could usually be seen only during SWS. That prompted Rial et al. (1993) to consider reptilian waking as evolutionary antecedent of mammalian sleep. Increase of delta power in resting EEG has been documented in a wide array of developmental disorders and pathological conditions. The lack of specificity of this effect prompts one to suggest that increase of slow waves and/or decrease of alpha are almost universal responses to any brain damage or pathology, or even deviation from homeostatic optimum. The appearance of delta oscillations in EEG is traditionally interpreted as a correlate of inhibition. This interpretation, however, has little support in contemporary neuroscience. Many studies have described event-related increase of delta power as a correlate of 'active' cognitive processes (see later in this review). Moreover, even during SWS, which is considered a state of generalized inhibition, delta oscillations continue to respond to environmental signals with an increase of power (Basar, 1999) in much the same way as they do in waking reptiles or humans. Besides, simultaneous EEG and fMRI recording during SWS shows that delta waves correlate positively with the

BOLD signal (Dang-Vu et al., 2008). Compared with baseline (a state with no delta waves), delta waves are associated with increase of activity in many brain regions. This prompted authors to suggest that SWS is not a state of brain quiescence, but rather is an active state during which brain activity is consistently synchronized to the slow oscillation in specific cerebral regions (Dang-Vu et al., 2008). Recent studies suggesting a role for slow oscillations in memory consolidation are also in line with the emerging understanding of these waves as correlates of active functional processes, rather than inhibition. Considerable evidence on the association between delta waves and autonomic and metabolic processes during SWS shows that integration of cerebral activity with homeostatic processes might be one of these waves' functions. As for the increase of delta waves in pathological conditions, a bulk of evidence shows that these conditions are rather associated with behavioral disinhibition (see Knyazev, 2007 for a review) than inhibition. Overall, all this evidence is reconcilable with the idea that slow EEG oscillations are associated with evolutionary old basic processes, which in waking adult humans are overshadowed by more advanced and operationally flexible processes associated with higher frequency oscillations. The former processes rise in activity, however, when the latter are dysfunctional. In the following sections I will review evidence showing that in waking adult humans, delta oscillations are associated with basic biological motivations and the detection of motivationally salient stimuli in the environment, but first I will discuss evidence about the place of generation of delta activity.

#### 3. Delta oscillations, motivation, and cognition

#### 3.1. The place of generation of delta activity

If we suppose that the function of delta oscillations is somehow linked with motivation, we should expect that the generation of delta activity should be associated with motivational brain circuits. Unfortunately, most of these circuits are located deep in the brain and their electrical activity is not directly accessible on the scalp. Although we may learn much from findings that come from fMRI, PET, and animal research, caution should be exercised when these findings are applied to the explanation of human EEG data. All of these tools provide very different points of view of the underlying neuronal activity and it is not obvious, for example, if findings from cell recordings in rodents will have strong bearing for scalp EEG in humans.

There is no definitive evidence regarding the place of origin of delta activity in the brain. Low frequency (<1 Hz) oscillations are presumably generated in sleep directly in the cortex (Steriade et al., 1993b). This ultra-slow activity is supposed to reflect cortical reorganization of waking circuits (Steriade et al., 1993b). According to Steriade et al. (1990, 1993a) the ascending cholinergic subcortical-cortical projections from the thalamus are critical to the generation of slow-wave EEG rhythms. However, studies using dipole modeling place the site of waking delta generation in anterior medial frontal cortex, rather than in thalamus (Michel et al., 1992, 1993). Neuroimaging of sleep by means of low-resolution brain electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) has also found that in the delta frequency range, activity was maximal in the medial prefrontal cortex and spread into the anterior cingulate and orbitofrontal cortex (Anderer et al., 2002). Murphy et al. (2009) using high-density EEG source modeling showed that SWS individual spontaneous slow waves (0.5-6 Hz) have distinct cortical origins, propagate uniquely across the cortex, and involve unique subsets of cortical structures. However, when the waves are examined en masse, diffuse hot spots of slow wave origins could be noted. These hot spots are centered at the left insula and the medial cingulate gyrus. Slow-wave propagation along the anterior



**Fig. 1.** Localization of potential sources of EEG delta activity superimposed on localization of brain reward circuitry. Red circles show the localization of potential sources of EEG delta activity as revealed by source modeling and correlation of EEG with PET and fMRI signal in humans (1) and by direct registration of electric activity in subcortical regions of waking animals (2). (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of the article.)

posterior axis of the brain is largely mediated by a cingulate highway. The highest density of streamlines was in the anterior portions of the cingulate. As a group, slow waves are associated with large currents in the medial frontal gyrus, the middle frontal gyrus, the inferior frontal gyrus, the anterior cingulate, the precuneus, and the posterior cingulate.

Studies correlating positron emission tomography (PET) and EEG indicate a positive correlation between waking delta and PET metabolism in the medial frontal cortex (Alper et al., 1998, 2006). This positive correlation contrasts with the negative relationship of the delta of SWS to PET metabolism (Maquet et al., 1997) or regional blood flow in the medial frontal cortex (Hofle et al., 1997). These apparently opposite relationships of delta to metabolism and blood flow in medial frontal cortex in sleep vs. waking states have been taken as an argument of the functional distinction between the waking and SWS delta (e.g. Alper, 1999). However, as Dang-Vu et al. (2008) note, the statistical contrasts used in many of these earlier studies compared the distribution of brain activity during sleep and wakefulness. Besides, because of its low temporal resolution, PET is poorly adapted to detect transient brain activities compared with event-related fMRI. fMRI analysis describing the transient changes in regional brain activity associated with discrete SWS delta waves relative to a baseline consisting of low-power theta, alpha, and beta activity during NREM sleep has found only positive correlations between delta waves and BOLD signal in the medial frontal gyrus (Dang-Vu et al., 2008). Thus, source modeling and correlation of EEG with PET and fMRI signal consistently show location of both waking and SWS delta sources in the medial prefrontal, orbitofrontal, and anterior cingulate cortices. Direct registration of electric activity in subcortical regions of waking animals show existence of delta oscillations in the common brainstem system (Lambertz and Langhorst, 1998), the nucleus accumbens (Leung and Yim, 1993), the ventral pallidum (Lavin and Grace, 1996), and dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA, Grace, 1995). Noteworthy, most of these structures (i.e. the VTA, the nucleus accumbens, the medial prefrontal cortex, and the nucleus reticularis thalami) are implicated in the brain reward system (Gray, 1999). Fig. 1 shows localization of potential sources of EEG delta activity superimposed on localization of brain reward circuitry.

Summing up, much evidence converges on showing that both waking and sleep delta waves mostly originate from the medial frontal cortical regions. Other hot spots include the insula, which is a higher association area for bodily signals (Mesulam and Mufson, 1982), the nucleus accumbens, and tegmental brainstem area. Because all these brain regions are highly involved in motivational brain circuits, in the following sections I will discuss evidence linking delta oscillations with motivational states. Much of this evidence has been reviewed elsewhere (Knyazev, 2007), so I will mostly concentrate on topics that were not covered in this previous review.

#### 3.2. Delta oscillations and motivation

Corr (2009) in his chapter devoted to the Reinforcement Sensitivity Theory of Personality cites Jeremy Bentham, an English 18th century jurist and philosopher: "Nature has placed mankind under the governance of two sovereign masters, pain and pleasure". In this view, organisms are seen as maximizing exposure to rewarding ('appetitive') events and minimizing exposure to punishing ('aversive') events. Rewarding or appetitive events consist of the presentation of a reward, termination of a punishment, or omission of an expected punishment, while punishing or aversive events consist of the punishment, termination of reward, and omission of an expected reward (Fowles, 2006). An important point to note here is the fact that reward itself and the termination of a punishment or omission of an expected punishment, share much in common in terms of their functions and pharmacology; and in a complementary way, punishment itself and the termination of reward, and omission of an expected reward, are similarly common (Corr, 2009). In the following, I will summarize evidence linking delta oscillations with brain reward and punishment systems.

#### 3.2.1. Delta oscillations and the brain reward systems

For a better understanding of different effects of the rewarding drugs, a basic sketch of the brain reward systems has to be presented (for a fuller description of the reward systems and their implication in the addictive behavior see e.g. Gianoulakis, 2004). A midbrain-forebrain-extrapyramidal circuit centered on the nucleus accumbens composes the anatomical pathway of the brain reward system. Significant experimental evidence suggests that the reinforcing effects of many drugs of abuse are mediated by the mesolimbic dopamine pathway (Koob, 1992; Spanagel and Weiss, 1999; Zadina et al., 1997). The cell bodies of these neurons are located in the ventral tegmental area and project to nuclei of the forebrain, mainly the nucleus accumbens, caudate, olfactory tubercles, medial frontal cortex, amygdala and septum (see Fig. 1). Both behavioral and pharmacological evidence suggests an important role of the dopaminergic pathways of the nucleus accumbens in drug reward. Furthermore, there is significant evidence indicating an interaction between the opioid and dopaminergic systems in mediating reward of opiates as well as of some other drugs of abuse, such as ethanol (Gianoulakis, 2004). Systemic administration of many drugs of abuse increases dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens. This increase is proposed to be a sufficient condition to produce reward (Chick and Erickson, 1996; Koob, 1992; Spanagel and Weiss, 1999). Activation of  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  opioid receptors by morphine-like drugs increases dopamine release (Chesselet et al., 1983; Devine et al., 1993; Di Chiara and Imperato, 1988). Cocaine increases extracellular dopamine by acting at the level of the dopamine transporter and blocking its reuptake (Heikkila et al., 1975). It is argued however that the assertions that dopamine mediates 'reward' or 'reinforcement' is inaccurate and grossly oversimplified. A hypothesis has been put forward that dopamine systems are rather involved in 'wanting', but not 'liking' (Berridge and Robinson, 1998). It is suggested that 'wanting' has both directional aspects (e.g. appetite to consume food) and activational aspects (e.g. activation for initiating and sustaining instrumental actions; tendency to work for food, Salamone and Correa, 2002). A distinction between functions of phasic and tonic dopamine release has also been recognized. It has been shown

that dopamine neurons demonstrate phasic firing in response to unpredicted reward (Schultz, 1998). It has been proposed that this phasic dopamine response drives learning by signaling a prediction error that effectively labels events as 'better than expected'. Although not rewarding in itself, the phasic dopamine release must evoke feelings pleasant enough to prompt self-stimulation of areas conducive to this release. It is suggested that 'intense interest', 'engaged curiosity', and 'eager anticipation' are the types of feelings that reflect arousal of this system in humans (Panksepp, 1998). Most of the evidence linking delta oscillations with the brain reward circuits has been reviewed elsewhere (Knyazev, 2007) and will be only briefly mentioned here with more emphasis on recently published data. I will start with natural rewards and continue with drugs of abuse.

3.2.1.1. Food and sex reward and delta oscillations. Both foodrelated and sexual arousal is associated with the increase of delta waves and their coherence (see Knyazev, 2007 for a review). In a recent study, magnetoencephalographic recordings were performed in obese and lean female adolescents during an eyes-closed resting state condition. The obese adolescents had increased synchronization in delta and beta frequency bands compared to lean controls (Dubbelink et al., 2008). The authors suggest that these differences might be related to disturbed motivational pathways. In restricted-fed chickens, relative powers in delta and theta frequency bands were highest during feeder directed behavior (Savory and Kostal, 2006). Another study investigated EEG activity in the orbitofrontal cortex in rats during the development of food reward and craving. In the food-related environment the EEG activity peaking in the delta band (2-4 Hz) was significantly correlated with the stimulus, increasing during food reward and decreasing during food craving when compared with that in the control environment (Fu et al., 2008). It is important to note that in this study, the animals were not actually hungry. In the craving condition they were presented with a tasty food, but had no access to it, whereas the access was offered in the reward condition.

3.2.1.2. Fatigue and delta oscillations. Need for rest and sleep is one of the basic biological needs. Empirical evidence shows that fatigue is mostly associated with increase of delta and theta oscillations (Kiroy et al., 1996; Lal and Craig, 2002, 2005; Makeig and Jung, 1996; Yamamoto and Matsuoka, 1990) although some increase of alpha activity could also be observed (Ninomija et al., 1993; Torsvall and Åkerstedt, 1988). It should be noted that different spectral constituents of the EEG may correlate with different components of such a complex phenomenon as e.g. driver fatigue. For example, enhanced theta oscillations may be associated with appearance of drowsiness, whereas increase of alpha may reflect attempts to overcome this drowsiness. However, in normal condition, a distinct increase of delta oscillations is usually evident only with the sleep onset (Tanaka et al., 1997) which is not the case of fatigued subjects. In this case delta increase probably signals an urgent need for rest.

3.2.1.3. Drugs of abuse and delta oscillations. This topic has been extensively reviewed in a review by Knyazev (2007), as well as in some other reviews (e.g., Alper, 1999), so it will be only briefly summarized here. The evidence that has been reviewed previously appears to indicate that the amplitude of delta oscillations increases in states of craving and decreases upon actual reward. From this point of view, administration of drugs of abuse must decrease the amplitude of delta oscillations. Indeed, acute administration of cocaine in rats results in diminished slow EEG power with this effect being mediated by dopamine (Chang et al., 1995; Ferger et al., 1994; Kiyatkin and Smirnov, 2009; Kropf and Kuschinsky, 1993; Luoh et al., 1994). However, in humans, the picture is more complex. While most studies note changes in delta power at

different stages following the intake of these drugs, the direction of these changes is not straightforwardly reconcilable with the abovepresented simple idea. It should be borne in mind, however, that in human beings, drugs of abuse produce complex effects which are not reducible to just simply turning on the brain's natural 'reward system' (Salamone and Correa, 2002).

In opioid-abusing individuals (Fink et al., 1971; Phillips et al., 1994; Volavka et al., 1970) and in surgical patients (Bovill et al., 1983; Scott et al., 1991; Sebel et al., 1981; Wauguier et al., 1984), morphine-like drugs increase wake EEG power in the delta and theta frequency range. Cocaine produces complex effects consisting of an increase in beta, alpha, and delta power (Herning et al., 1985, 1994; Lukas, 1991) and delta coherence over the prefrontal cortex (Reid et al., 2006), with delta and theta EEG activity being related to the rewarding properties of cocaine (Reid et al., 2003, 2006). Thus, it appears that in humans, contrary to what has been observed in rats, morphine-like drugs and cocaine produce an increase of delta power. This discrepancy may reflect the dynamics of craving and reward in humans that takes place after administration of these drugs. It appears that in humans, the initial stages after administration of drugs of abuse are associated with an increase of craving and, respectively, with an increase of delta activity (Reid et al., 2006). Indeed, the effects of cocaine on ratings of high and 'good drug effect' are rapid and somewhat short lasting and are accompanied by increased ratings of cocaine craving, which persist at or near their peak levels for a longer duration (Foltin and Haney, 2000; Hart et al., 2004; Reid et al., 2006; Ward et al., 1997). Moreover, evidence for a more prolonged effect on cocaine craving is consistent with previous neuroimaging study that reported a short high followed by a longer period of cocaine craving following intravenous dosing (Breiter et al., 1997). Most importantly, the increase of delta power during the first 5 min following cocaine was correlated with increased ratings of cocaine craving (Reid et al., 2006). Reward-related decrease of delta activity has been observed after administration of legal psycho-active drugs, such as alcohol (Sanz-Martin et al., 2011), tobacco (Knott et al., 2008) and caffeine (Hammond, 2003).

If we assume that reward-related dopamine release is associated with a decrease of delta activity, then abstinence in addicted persons should be associated with an increase of delta activity. Indeed, opiate addicts show increase of delta and decrease of alpha waves during abstinence (Shufman et al., 1996; Synytsky et al., 2002). Methamphetamine dependent patients with 4 days of abstinence also had increased EEG power in the delta and theta bands with no differences in the alpha and beta bands (Newton et al., 2003). MDMA ('ecstasy') abusers show significantly higher absolute delta power than control subjects (Herning et al., 2005). In a sample of Native Americans, increases in spectral power in the delta frequency range were significantly correlated with marijuana dependence (Ehlers et al., 2010). There is also evidence that high-binge alcohol drinkers exhibit more spectral power in the delta band (Courtney and Polich, 2010). Increases in delta and theta power were also observed during withdrawal from caffeine (Hammond, 2003).

On the other hand, alcoholic patients show decreased power in slow (delta and theta) bands both in wake (Coutin-Churchman et al., 2006; Saletu-Zyhlarz et al., 2004) and during SWS (Colrain et al., 2009a). Moreover, in contrast to non-alcoholic population, alcoholic patients with clinical depression show lower current density than non-depressed alcoholic patients in delta band (Coutin-Churchman and Moreno, 2008). EEG studies in cocainedependent patients show deficits in slow-wave brain activity and reduced interhemispheric coherence in delta and theta bands during drug-abstinence (Alper et al., 1998b; Prichep et al., 1996; Roemer et al., 1995). This seemingly contradicts the idea that craving in drug-abstinent alcohol- or cocaine-dependant humans should be associated with enhanced delta activity. It should be borne in mind, however, that the clinical syndrome of drug dependence may include severe changes in the brain neurochemistry and electrophysiology as well as in motivational and emotional spheres which may pervert the observed relationships between psychological and physiological variables. For example, the EEG changes observed in the drug-abstinent, cocaine-dependant humans may reflect a neuroadaptation due to chronic use, possibly sensitization (Alper, 1999). Binienda et al. (2002) showed that in nonanesthetized, adult male rats, repeated exposures to cocaine resulted in a significant decrease in electrocorticogram delta power paralleled by marked increases in DA concentrations in caudate nucleus and frontal cortex. The DA turnover decreased significantly. Further studies are necessary to establish whether regional alterations in blood flow and metabolic activity may underlie such observations. Frequently observed increase of alpha and high-frequency oscillations in cocaine-dependent patients during drug-abstinence (Alper, 1999) might be attributed to high anxiety and depressive comorbidity in these samples in view or reports of increased alpha power both in anxiety (Herrmann and Winterer, 1996; Knyazev et al., 2004, 2005, 2006) and depression (Costa and Bauer, 1997; Alper, 1995).

Much evidence shows that event-related delta oscillations are disrupted in drug- or alcohol-dependent individuals as well. Thus, significantly lower amplitude of the P3 event-related potential (ERP) component has been reported for human subjects at high risk for alcohol dependence (for review, see Porjesz et al., 2005). Numerous studies have shown also that chronic substance use reduces the P3 amplitude and delays its latency. This applies to abstinent heroin (Attou et al., 2001; Papageorgiou et al., 2003, 2004) and cocaine (Biggins et al., 1997; Moeller et al., 2004) users. Even smoking has a significant reducing effect on P3 amplitude but only in the presence of the A1 allele of the D2 dopamine receptor gene locus (Anokhin et al., 1999). Many studies have demonstrated that delta and theta event-related oscillations (ERO) are the primary contributors to the P3 ERP component (Demiralp et al., 2001; Basar-Erogly et al., 1992; Karakas et al., 2000; Schurmann et al., 2001; Stampfer and Basar, 1985). These oscillations have been linked to several relevant genes associated with alcohol dependence phenotypes (Edenberg et al., 2004; Jones et al., 2004; Porjesz et al., 2005; Begleiter and Porjesz, 2006; Rangaswamy et al., 2007). Accordingly, several studies have shown that ERO measures of EEG activity recorded in P3 tasks provide comparable or even more powerful biomarkers of alcoholism than ERP measures (Andrew and Fein, 2010; Rangaswamy et al., 2007). It has been shown that the decrease in P3 amplitudes in genetic mouse models of high as compared to low alcohol preference is related to reductions in evoked delta oscillations energy and delta and theta phase locking (Criado and Ehlers, 2009). Beyond the P3 paradigm, it was found that alcoholics (Kamarajan et al., 2004) and their offspring (Kamarajan et al., 2006) showed significant reduction in event-related delta and theta power in the Go/No-Go paradigm and had lower evoked delta frequency responses to auditory stimuli during SWS (Colrain et al., 2009b).

In sum, much evidence shows that drugs of abuse definitely influence delta oscillations. Although in humans actual effect depends on a host of circumstances, such as the kind of drug, time after administration, mode of administration, previous experience with drugs, and so on, the general pattern fits the idea that actual reward associated with the dopamine release is accompanied by a decrease of delta activity whereas withdrawal and craving are associated with an increase of delta activity. Animal data show that delta oscillations are diminished by electrical stimulation of the VTA and acute administration of cocaine with this effect being mediated by dopamine (Chang et al., 1995; Ferger et al., 1994; Kropf and Kuschinsky, 1993; Leung and Yim, 1993; Luoh et al., 1994). In the context of neuroimaging, a direct linkage between delta-band activity and fMRI signal in the nucleus accumbens of the rat brain after heroin challenge was reported by Li et al. (2006). Chronic alcohol or cocaine use causes neuroadaptation, possibly sensitization (Alper, 1999), which results in a decrease in delta power and disruption of event-related delta responses.

#### 3.2.1.4. Reward deficiency and delta oscillations.

3.2.1.4.1. Anhedonia. There is considerable evidence suggesting that the nucleus accumbens reward system is dysfunctional in patients who suffer from depression (Berton et al., 2006; Tremblay et al., 2005). We have already discussed the evidence showing increase of delta power in patients with major depressive disorder. Pizzagalli et al. (2004) have shown that melancholia, a subtype of depression characterized by anhedonia, was associated with increased delta activity in the subgenual prefrontal cortex. Following antidepressant treatment, depressed subjects with the largest reductions in depression severity showed the lowest posttreatment subgenual prefrontal cortex delta activity. Wacker et al. (2009) have shown that delta activity in the rostral anterior cingulate cortex correlates negatively with the nucleus accumbens responses to reward and is positively associated with anhedonia scores. Knyazev (2011) using independent component analysis and source localization techniques showed that when subjects expected bad news delta power and connectivity increased in a network of cortical areas which includes the orbitofrontal and the anterior cingulate cortices as its main node. This increase was more pronounced in subjects with higher scores on state anxiety. These data imply that frontal medial delta activity increases when this area receives less dopaminergic firing from the nucleus accumbens. In the domain of evoked responses, the most common ERP finding in depression is a reduction of P3 amplitude during the oddball task (Bruder et al., 1991; Gangadharar et al., 1993; Urretavizcaya et al., 2003).

3.2.1.4.2. Reward deficiency syndrome and impulsive behavior. Comings and Blum (2000) have proposed that defects in various combinations of the genes for 'reward' neurotransmitters result in a Reward Deficiency Syndrome (RDS) and that such individuals are at risk for abuse of the unnatural rewards including alcohol, drug, tobacco, and food and other related behaviors, such as pathological gambling, Tourette's syndrome, and ADHD (Blum et al., 2008). All these behaviors frequently co-occur (Comings et al., 2005) and are associated with traits that fall into category of impulsivity or sensation seeking (Cloninger, 1987; Gray, 1987; Zuckerman, 1994). Behavioral impulsivity is characterized by intolerance of delayed reward (Corr, 2002). Cloninger (1987) suggested lower baseline dopaminergic activity in high sensation seeking individuals. Indeed, tonic dopamine release is supposedly linked with a prediction or anticipation of delayed future rewards (Grace, 1995) and it is shown that dopamine depletion shifts the preference in favor of the small 'proximal' rewards (Wade et al., 2000; Cardinal et al., 2001) thus making the animal behavior more 'impulsive'. From the perspective of this review, it is suggested that the RDS and impulsivity must have excess of slow waves in EEG as one of its markers. The association between delta waves and addictive behavior has been already discussed above. The prevalence of slow waves (both theta and delta) in EEGs of ADHD subjects is also well established (see e.g., Barry et al., 2003 for a review). It is also shown that stimulant medication with drugs targeted to dopamine circuits, such as methylphenidate, frequently improves symptomatology, concomitantly 'normalizing' the EEG (Clarke et al., 2002a). Moreover, good responders to methylphenidate had EEG profiles that suggested that they were more cortically 'hypoaroused' (i.e., had more slow waves) than poor responders (Clarke et al., 2002b).

Considerable literature links unconstrained urge towards biological rewards with impulsive, aggressive, and antisocial behavior. Prevalence of slow-wave activity in the EEG of aggressive, antisocial, and criminal individuals was noted in earlier observations and was confirmed in later quantitative EEG studies (see Knyazev, 2007 for a review). In addition to the slowing of 'spontaneous' EEG, considerable literature shows impairment of the evoked P3 responses in impulsive and antisocial individuals (Bond and Surguy, 2000; Gao and Raine, 2009; Kiehl et al., 2006; Mathias and Stanford, 1999; Raine and Venables, 1987). The behavior and EEG abnormalities in violent and antisocial persons tend to be explained as a consequence of hypoarousal. Hare (1970) suggested that antisocial individuals were hypoactive compared with normal individuals and consequently existed in a chronic stage of 'stimulus hunger'. The hypoarousal hypothesis seems to stem from Eysenck's (1967) theory which suggested that individual differences in the activity of the corticoreticular loop are responsible for the individual's position on the extraversion-introversion dimension. Interestingly, for an EEG index of hypoarousal Eysenck suggested high amplitude alpha oscillations whereas the above theories imply that hypoarousal is manifested by increase of slow waves which is frequently accompanied by a decrease of alpha oscillations. The hypoarousal theory of delinquent and aggressive behavior is supported by autonomic regulation data consistently showing low skin conductance (for a review see Raine, 1993) and heart rate in antisocial population (see e.g. a meta-analysis by Ortiz and Raine, 2004). However, the low autonomic arousal registered in the antisocial population does not necessarily mean that it itself causes aggressive and antisocial behavior. Existing evidence rather suggests that anger-induced or emotionally driven aggression is facilitated by increased arousal, which essentially acts as an energizer of ongoing behavior (for a review see Zillman, 1983). Scarpa and Raine (1997) suggested that under-arousal may be more relevant to milder forms of aggression, whereas overarousal is more relevant to the facilitation of emotional aggression. One plausible explanation of low autonomic arousal registered in the antisocial population during mildly stressful psychophysiological test sessions would be low level of fear and anxiety (Ortiz and Raine, 2004) which also implies a low sympathetic tone. In framework of the evolutionary approach, prevalence of slow oscillations could be considered (in a metaphorical sense) as an evidence of 'sleepiness' of higher regulatory mechanisms. Thus, a 'lazy' frontal lobe has been suggested to underlie disinhibition of motor activity in ADHD patients (Niedermeyer and Naidu, 1998a,b). However, linking delta oscillations with inhibition is not supported by recent evidence showing positive correlations of both SWS (Dang-Vu et al., 2008) and waking (Lu et al., 2007) delta with brain activity.

Summing up, it appears that need for reinforcement increases delta oscillations whereas actual reinforcement causes their decrease. Pathological states associated with anhedonia or reward deficiency are associated with increase of slow waves in 'spontaneous' EEG and impairment of slow wave-related evoked responses.

#### 3.2.2. Delta oscillations and primitive defensive mechanisms

The behavior of lower vertebrates is not guided exclusively by reward motivation. The delta oscillatory system is also expected to participate in atavistic defensive responses and reactions to unavoidable aversive stimuli. The most primitive circuits that coordinated defensive responses in ancient vertebrates are located within the periacqueductal gray region (PAG). As a primitive defensive mechanism, there are several noteworthy characteristics of the PAG (Bandler and Keay, 1996). First, cells in this region are relatively cut off from direct exteroceptive sensory input and are primarily responsive to somatosensory and visceral information. Moreover, there appears to be a specialization for painful input, with different sets of cells responding predominantly to cutaneous pain (lateral PAG) and to deep pain from the joints and viscera (ventrolateral PAG). These sensory inputs suggest that, at its most primitive levels, defensive behavior is based upon stimulation that actually contacts the individual and requires an immediate response (Luu et al., 1998). The following is a brief discussion of two examples of the PAG-related behaviors and their association with the EEG delta activity. These are the states of panic attacks and the enduring pain.

A number of researchers have related activity within primitive structures such as the PAG to emotional states of 'panic' (Barlow et al., 1996; Gray and McNaughton, 1996; Heller et al., 1997). These states, which are often triggered by somatic sensations (e.g., breathlessness), involve an abrupt onset, rapidly intensifying autonomic reactions, feelings of immediate danger, and an overwhelming urge to escape. If, as is hypothesized here, delta oscillatory system is linked with evolutionary primitive behavioral patterns, panic should be associated with increase of its activity. And, vice versa, in individuals predisposed to panic attacks, increased background delta activity should favor appearance of these attacks. Existing evidence seems to confirm such a claim. Thus, patients vulnerable to lactate-induced panic exhibit higher than normal pre-panic autonomic activity, elevated autonomicsomatic activity during lactate-induced panic and an EEG response to provoked panic which appears to be comprised of a 'paradoxical' shift towards slow-wave delta activity and an altered brainstem evoked response (for a review see Knott and Lapierre, 1988). EEG recordings throughout a lactate challenge indicate that slow-wave activity associated with panic does not appear to be characterized by an abrupt, sudden onset but tends to increase gradually throughout the infusion (Knott, 1990). In patients with panic disorder who experience panic attacks during sleep, all the panic attacks occur suddenly, arising from stage 3 to 4 (delta sleep) or during a transition from stage 2 towards delta sleep (Lesser et al., 1985; Mellman and Uhde, 1989). In a study designed to examine the sensitivity of different sleep stages to the pharmacological provocation of nocturnal panic attacks, cholecystokinin tetrapeptide (CCK-4), which demonstrates an abrupt onset of action making it possible to provoke panic attacks precisely during a particular sleep stage, was used as a challenge agent (Kronenberg et al., 2001). In a balanced cross-over design, healthy participants were challenged with identical doses of CCK-4 both during REM sleep and during delta sleep. Stimulation with 50 microg CCK-4 during REM sleep failed to elicit a full-blown panic awakening, while the same dose, administered during delta sleep, did produce full-blown panic attacks. Similarly, stimulation of six subjects with 100 microg CCK-4 during REM sleep resulted in only one panic response, whereas four of nine subjects awoke experiencing a panic attack following stimulation with the identical dose during delta sleep. Severity of panic symptomatology, as measured by the self-rated Acute Panic Inventory, was also significantly increased when CCK-4 was administered during delta sleep. The authors conclude that sensitivity to the panicogenic effects of CCK-4 seems to be higher during delta sleep than REM sleep.

Short-lasting painful stimuli mostly induce appearance of highfrequency oscillations although parametric spectral analysis of late cerebral potential components (later than 80 ms) evoked by brief painful somatosensory stimuli does reveal a stimulus-induced increase of power in the low frequencies, delta and theta (Bromm et al., 1989). In this placebo-controlled double-blind cross-over study with 20 healthy male subjects, the effect kinetics of the opioid meperidine and the antidepressant imipramine on spontaneous EEG activity and EEG activity that was evoked by brief painful electrical stimuli were investigated. Both drugs increased the power in the low frequencies in the pre-stimulus and decreased it in the poststimulus EEG, thus effectively abolishing the EEG effect of painful stimulation. The pre-/post-stimulus relationship of the delta power was found to be the most sensitive measure for monitoring the cerebral bioavailability of the tested drugs (Bromm et al., 1989). Increase of delta power and coherence was observed during tonic

pain evoked by the cold pressor test (Chang et al., 2002; Chen et al., 1998; Ferracuti et al., 1994; Stevens et al., 2000), by a series of heat pulses (Huber et al., 2006), during tonic experimental muscle pain (Le Pera et al., 2000), in patients with chronic pancreatitis (Olesen et al., 2011), and in migraine patients (Bjørk et al., 2009; Genco et al., 1994; Muellbacher and Mamoli, 1994; Passier et al., 1994; Ramelli et al., 1998; Sand, 1991; Seri et al., 1993; Siniatchkin et al., 1999; Thomaides et al., 1996).

All these data appear to confirm that primitive defensive behaviors associated with PAG activity are accompanied by an increase of delta oscillations.

#### 3.3. Cognitive processing and delta oscillations

In sharp contrast to clinical EEG researchers who tend to treat delta oscillations as a correlate of pathological processes or inhibition, cognitive neuroscientists tend to consider delta as a 'cognitive' rhythm (e.g., Basar et al., 1999; Schurmann et al., 2001). Perhaps the most significant finding in cognitive studies concerning the delta activity is its commonality with the P3, an evoked response to stimuli that are unexpected, infrequent, or motivationally salient. This association has already been briefly discussed above and the relevant literature has been reviewed elsewhere (e.g., Basar-Erogly et al., 1992; Knyazev, 2007). In short, delta and theta ERO have been shown to be the primary contributors to the P3 ERP component (Demiralp et al., 2001; Basar-Erogly et al., 1992; Karakas et al., 2000; Schurmann et al., 2001; Stampfer and Basar, 1985). In view of the evidence linking the P3 with dopaminergic neurotransmission (Berman and Noble, 1997; Berman et al., 2006; Blum et al., 1994; Mulert et al., 2006; Noble et al., 1994), Knyazev (2007) suggested that the motivational relevance of the task and the salience of the target stimulus seem to be related to the enhanced delta activity in the P3 paradigm, because the brain motivational systems signal salience and make the brain paying attention to biological relevant stimuli (Gray, 1999). This interpretation implies an important role for delta oscillations in attention. Indeed, many investigators have linked delta oscillations with attention processes (Harmony et al., 1996; Schroeder and Lakatos, 2009; Lakatos et al., 2008; Will and Berg, 2007). The entrainment of cortical delta oscillations has been suggested as a key mechanism of selective attention to rhythmic auditory or visual stimulus streams (Lakatos et al., 2008). Interestingly, a recent combined fMRI and EEG study has shown that the resting state networks (RSN) associated with higher cognitive functions such as self reflection, working memory and language all displayed a positive association with higher EEG frequency bands while negatively related to delta and theta. In contrast, the RSNs that delineate the sensory cortices, i.e. somatomotor, auditory and visual cortices showed positive associations with the lower EEG frequencies but negative association with the higher frequencies (Jann et al., 2010).

If, as the evidence discussed in the previous sections implies, delta oscillations are associated with basic motivational processes, they might be involved in constant screening of internal and external stimuli in search of motivationally salient cues that signal potential threat or reward. Existing evidence implies that this screening does not stop even in deep sleep (Basar, 1999) and includes stimuli that fall below the threshold of conscious perception. Study of evoked oscillations on the hearing threshold in waking humans show that the stimulus intensity is one of the factors determining which frequency component of the auditory ERP is dominant. At high stimulation intensities, the dominant frequency component is in the alpha to theta range. At 40–20 dB stimulation, the dominant frequency characteristics are dominated by a clear delta activity (Parnefjord and Basar, 1999).

A waveform observed in response to deviant stimuli not attended by the subject, the mismatch negativity (Naatanen, 1992) is shaped by a delayed delta response superimposed with a theta response. Interestingly, for near-threshold visual stimuli, it has been shown that the pre-stimulus state of alpha oscillations determines whether the stimulus will be consciously perceived or not (Ergenoglu et al., 2004). Thus, the conscious perception depends on alpha activity whereas subconscious perception could be attributed to the low frequency oscillations. Much data show that delta (along with theta) oscillations are also implicated in processing emotional stimuli (e.g., Bhattacharya and Petsche, 2002; Klados et al., 2009).

In sum, it appears that existing data linking delta oscillations with cognitive processes do not contradict the defended in this review idea that these oscillations are mostly associated with evolutionary old basic motivational processes. Indeed, much psychological data show that cognition in humans is inseparably linked with motivation and emotion and the above reviewed evidence emphasizes that the involvement of delta oscillations in cognitive processes is mostly limited to the function of salience detection which is undoubtedly related to motivational brain circuits.

#### 3.4. Conclusion

The reviewed evidence appears to confirm the involvement of delta oscillations in motivational processes. Generation of delta oscillations seems to depend on activity of the VTA, the nucleus accumbens, the medial prefrontal cortex, and the nucleus reticularis thalami, all of which are implicated in the brain reward system. Delta oscillations appear to increase in states of motivational urges, which are triggered by biological rewards and dangers. They are implicated in attention and salience detection. All this fits to the hypothesis that delta oscillations represent the most basic evolutionary old oscillatory mode which dominated in reptiles but is still associated with very important primary processes in humans.

#### 4. General conclusion

In this review, the evidence on functional correlates of delta oscillations has been reviewed from an evolutionary point of view. Predictions derived from the evolutionary interpretation were formulated and matched against existing empirical evidence. In spite of scarceness of this evidence, the general pattern appears to fit the idea that delta oscillations represent an evolutionary old oscillatory mode that dominated in lower vertebrates, but in waking adult humans it is overshadowed by more advanced and operationally flexible processes associated with higher frequency oscillations. This oscillatory mode rises in activity when for some or another reason the more advanced systems lose their priority. These conditions include earlier developmental stages, sleep, and an array of pathological states. Functionally delta oscillations appear to be implicated in synchronization of brain activity with autonomic functions, in motivational processes associated both with reward and atavistic defensive mechanisms, and in cognitive processes mostly related to attention and the detection of motivationally salient stimuli in the environment. Although mostly speculative, the evolutionary interpretation has considerable explanatory value and allows unify and explain seemingly isolated and sometimes even contradictory data coming from different research domains.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant of the Russian Foundation for Basic Research (RFBR) no. 11-06-00041-a. Author is grateful to Kimberly Barchard for careful reading and helpful comments on the first version of the manuscript.

#### References

- Achermann, P., Borbely, A.A., 1997. Low-frequency (<1 Hz) oscillations in the human sleep electroencephalogram. Neuroscience 81, 213–222.
- Ako, M., Kawara, T., Uchida, S., Miyazaki, S., Nishihara, K., Mukai, J., Hirao, K., Ako, J., Okubo, Y., 2003. Correlation between electroencephalography and heart rate variability during sleep. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 57, 59–65.
- Alfimova, M., Uvarova, L., 2003. Cognitive peculiarities in relatives of schizophrenic and schizoaffective patients: heritability and resting EEG-correlates. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 49, 201–216.
- Allena, M., Campus, C., Morrone, E., De Carli, F., Garbarino, S., Manfredi, C., Rossi Sebastiano, D., Ferrillo, F., 2009. Periodic limb movements both in non-REM and REM sleep: relationships between cerebral and autonomic activities. Clin. Neurophysiol. 120, 1282–1290.
- Alper, K.R., 1995. Quantitative EEG and evoked potentials in adult psychiatry. In: Panksepp, J., Greenwich, C.T. (Eds.), Advances in Biological Psychiatry, vol. 1. JAI Press, Greenwich, pp. 65–112.
- Alper, K.R., 1999. The EEG and cocaine sensitization: a hypothesis. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 11, 209–221.
- Alper, K.R., Gunther, W., Prichep, L.S., 1998. Correlation of qEEG with PET in schizophrenia. Neuropsychobiology 38, 50–56.
- Alper, K.R., John, E.R., Brodie, J., Günther, W., Daruwala, R., Prichep, L.S., 2006. Correlation of PET and qEEG in normal subjects. Psychiatry Res. 146, 271–282.
- Alper, K.R., Prichep, L.S., Kowalik, S., Rosenthal, M.S., John, E.R., 1998b. Persistent QEEG abnormality in crack cocaine users at 6 months of drug abstinence. Neuropsychopharmacology 19, 1–9.
- Allyson, T., Van Twiver, H., 1970. The evolution of sleep. Nat. Hist. 79, 57-65.
- Anderer, P., Gruber, G., Saletu, B., Klösch, G., Zeitlhofer, J., Pascual-Marqui, R.D., 2002. Non-invasive electrophysiological neuroimaging of sleep. Int. Congr. Ser. 1232, 795–800.
- Andrew, C., Fein, G., 2010. Event-related oscillations versus event-related potentials in a P300 task as biomarkers for alcoholism. Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res. 34, 669–680.
- Anokhin, A.P., Todorov, A.A., Madden, P.A., Grant, J.D., Heath, A.C., 1999. Brain eventrelated potentials, dopamine D2 receptor gene polymorphism, and smoking. Genet. Epidemiol. 17 (Suppl. 1), S37–S42.
- Attou, A., Figiel, C., Timsit-Berthier, M., 2001. Opioid addiction: P300 assessment in treatment by methadone substitution. Neurophysiol. Clin. 31, 171–180.
- Babiloni, C., Albertini, G., Onorati, P., Vecchio, F., Buffo, P., Sar, M., Condoluci, C., Pistoia, F., Carducci, F., Rossini, P.M., 2009a. Inter-hemispheric functional coupling of eyes-closed resting EEG rhythms in adolescents with Down syndrome. Clin. Neurophysiol. 120, 1619–1627.
- Babiloni, C., Ferri, R., Binetti, G., Vecchio, F., Frisoni, G.B., Lanuzza, B., Miniussi, C., Nobili, F., Rodriguez, G., Rundo, F., Cassarino, A., Infarinato, F., Cassetta, E., Salinari, S., Eusebi, F., Rossini, P.M., 2009b. Directionality of EEG synchronization in Alzheimer's disease subjects. Neurobiol. Aging 30, 93–102.
- Bandler, R., Keay, K.A., 1996. Columnar organization in the midbrain periaqueductal gray and the integration of emotional expression. In: Holstege, G., Bandler, R., Saper, C.B. (Eds.), Progress in Brain Research, Vol. 107: The Emotional Motor System. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 285–300.
- Barlow, D.H., Chorpita, B.F., Turovsky, J., 1996. Fear, panic, anxiety, and disorders of emotion. In: Hope, D.A. (Ed.), Nebraska Symposium on Motivation, Vol. 43: Perspectives on Anxiety, Panic, and Fear. University of Nebraska Press, Lincoln, pp. 251–328.
- Barret, L.F., Lindquist, K.A., Bliss-Moreau, E., Duncan, S., Gendron, M., Mize, J., Brennan, L., 2007. Of mice and men: natural kinds of emotions in the mammalian brain? A response to Panksepp and Izard. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 2, 297–311.
- Barry, R.J., Clarke, A.R., Johnstone, S.J., 2003. A review of electrophysiology in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: I. Qualitative and quantitative electroencephalography. Clin. Neurophysiol. 114, 171–183.
- Basar, E., 1998. Brain Function and Oscillations. I. Brain Oscillations. Principles and Approaches. Springer, Berlin.
- Basar, E., 1999. Brain Function and Oscillations. II. Integrative Brain Function. Neurophysiology and Cognitive Processes. Springer, Berlin.
- Basar, E., Basar-Erogly, C., Karakas, S., Schurmann, M., 1999. Are cognitive processes manifested in event-related gamma, alpha, theta and delta oscillations in the EEG? Neurosci. Lett. 259, 165–168.
- Basar, E., Basar-Erogly, C., Karakas, S., Schurmann, M., 2000. Brain oscillations in perception and memory. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 35, 95–124.
- Basar-Erogly, C., Basar, E., Demiralp, T., Schurmann, M., 1992. P300-response: possible psychophysiological correlates in delta and theta frequency channels. A review. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 13, 161–179.
- Bates, A.T., Kiehl, K.A., Laurens, K.R., Liddle, P.F., 2009. Low-frequency EEG oscillations associated with information processing in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 115, 222–230.
- Begleiter, H., Porjesz, B., 2006. Genetics of human brain oscillations. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 60, 162–171.
- Bell, A.H., McClure, B.G., McCullagh, P.J., McClelland, R.J., 1991. Variation in power spectral analysis of the EEG with gestational age. J. Clin. Neurophysiol. 8, 312–319.
- Benington, J.H., Heller, H.C., 1995. Restoration of brain energy metabolism as the function of sleep. Prog. Neurobiol. 45, 347–360.
- Berman, S.M., Noble, E.P., 1997. The D2 dopamine receptor (DRD2) gene and family stress; interactive effects on cognitive functions in children. Behav. Genet. 27, 33–43.

- Berman, S.M., Noble, E.P., Antolin, T., Sheen, C., Conner, B.T., Ritchie, T., 2006. P300 development during adolescence: effects of DRD2 genotype. Clin. Neurophysiol. 117, 649–659.
- Berridge, K.C., Robinson, T.E., 1998. What is the role of dopamine in reward: hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? Brain Res. Rev. 28, 309–369.
- Berton, O., McClung, C.A., Dileone, R.J., Krishnan, V., Renthal, W., Russo, S.J., 2006. Essential role of BDNF in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in social defeat stress. Science 311, 864–868.
- Bhattacharya, J., Petsche, H., 2002. Shadows of artistry: cortical synchrony during perception and imagery of visual art. Cogn. Brain Res. 13, 179–186.
- Biggins, C.A., MacKay, S., Clark, W., Fein, G., 1997. Event-related potential evidence for frontal cortex effects of chronic cocaine dependence. Biol. Psychiatry 42, 472–485.
- Binienda, Z.K., Pereira, F., Alper, K., Slikker Jr., W., Ali, S.F., 2002. Adaptation to repeated cocaine administration in rats. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 965, 172–179.
- Bjørk, M.H., Sand, T., Bråthen, G., Linaker, O.M., Morken, G., Nilsen, B.M., Vaaler, A.E., 2008. Quantitative EEG findings in patients with acute, brief depression combined with other fluctuating psychiatric symptoms: a controlled study from an acute psychiatric department. BMC Psychiatry 8, 89.
- Bjørk, M.H., Stovner, L.J., Engstrøm, M., Stjern, M., Hagen, K., Sand, T., 2009. Interictal quantitative EEG in migraine: a blinded controlled study. J. Headache Pain 10, 331–339.
- Blum, K., Braverman, E.R., Dinardo, M.J., Wood, R.C., Sheridan, P.J., 1994. Prolonged P300 latency in a neuropsychiatric population with the D2 dopamine receptor A1 allele. Pharmacogenetics 4, 313–322.
- Blum, K., Chen, A.L.C., Braverman, E.R., Comings, D.E., Chen, T.J.H., Arcuri, V., Blum, S.H., Downs, B.W., Waite, R.L., Notaro, A., Lubar, J., Williams, L., Prihoda, T.J., Palomo, T., Oscar-Berman, M., 2008. Attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder and reward deficiency syndrome. Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat. 4, 893–917.
- Bond, A.J., Surguy, S.M., 2000. Relationship between attitudinal hostility and P300 latencies. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 24, 1277–1288.
- Boord, P.R., Rennie, C.J., Williams, L.M., 2007. Integrating brain and body measures: correlations between EEG and metabolic changes over the human lifespan. J. Integr. Neurosci. 6, 205–218.
- Borbely, A.A., 1982. A two process model of sleep regulation. Hum. Neurobiol. 1, 195–204.
- Borbely, A.A., Achermann, P., 2000. Sleep homeostasis and models of sleep regulation. In: Kryger, M.H., Roth, T., Dement, W.C. (Eds.), Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine. W.B. Saunders Co, Philadelphia, pp. 377–390.
- Bornas, X., Mühlberger, A., Llabrés, J., Wiedemann, G., Pauli, P., 2009. Looking for traces of phylogenetic fears: differences in EEG slow oscillations and complexity between spider- and flight phobic subjects. Int. J. Clin. Health Psychol. 9, 37–49.
- Boutros, N.N., Arfken, C., Galderisi, S., Warrick, J., Pratt, G., Iacono, W., 2008. The status of spectral EEG abnormality as a diagnostic test for schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 99, 225–237.
- Bovill, J.G., Sebel, P.S., Wauquier, A., Rog, P., Schuyt, H.C., 1983. Influence of high-dose alfentanil anaesthesia on the electroencephalogram: correlation with plasma concentrations. Br. J. Anaesth. 55 (Suppl. 2), 199–209.
- Braitenberg, V., Schutz, A., 1998. Cortex: Statistics and Geometry of Neuronal Connectivity, 2nd ed. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.
   Brandenberger, G., Ehrhart, J., Piquard, F., Simon, C., 2001. Inverse coupling between
- Brandenberger, G., Ehrhart, J., Piquard, F., Simon, C., 2001. Inverse coupling between ultradian oscillations in delta wave activity and heart rate variability during sleep. Clin. Neurophysiol. 112, 992–996.
- Breiter, H.C., Gollub, R.L., Weisskoff, R.M., Kennedy, D.N., Makris, N., Berke, J.D., 1997. Acute effects of cocaine on human brain activity and emotion. Neuron 19, 591–611.
- Bromm, B., Meier, W., Scharein, E., 1989. Pre-stimulus/post-stimulus relations in EEG spectra and their modulations by an opioid and an antidepressant. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 73, 188–197.
- Bruder, G.E., Toewy, J.P., Stewart, J.W., Friedman, D., Tenke, C., Quitkin, F.M., 1991. Event-related potentials in depression: influence of task, stimulus hemifield and clinical features on P3 latency. Biol. Psychiatry 30, 233–246.
- Bullock, T.H., 1984. Ongoing compound field potentials from octopus brain are labile and vertebrate-like. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 57, 473–483.
- Bullock, T.H., 1993. How Do Brains Work? Birkhouser, Boston.
- Bullock, T.H., 1997. Signals and signs in the nervous system: the dynamic anatomy of electrical activity is probably information-rich. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94, 1–6.
- Bullock, T.H., 2002. Biology of brain waves: natural history and evolution of an information-rich sign of activity. In: Arikan, K., Moore, N. (Eds.), Advances in Electrophysiology in Clinical Practice and Research. Kjellberg, Wheaton, IL.
- Bullock, T.H., 2003. Have brain dynamics evolved? Should we look for unique dynamics in the sapient species? Neural Comput. 15, 2013–2027.
- Bullock, T.H., Basar, E., 1988. Comparison of ongoing compound field potentials in the brains of invertebrates and vertebrates. Brain Res. 472, 57–75.
- Buzsaki, G., Draguhn, A., 2004. Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks. Science 304, 1926–1929.
- Campbell, S.S., Tobler, I., 1984. Animal sleep: a review of sleep duration across phylogeny. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 8, 269–300.
- Cantero, J.L., Atienza, M., 2005. The role of neural synchronization in the emergence of cognition across the wake-sleep cycle. Rev. Neurosci. 16, 69–83.
- Cardinal, R.N., Pennicott, D.R., Sugathapala, C.L., Robbins, T.W., Everitt, B.J., 2001. Impulsive choice induced in rats by lesions of the nucleus accumbens core. Science 292, 2499–2501.

- Chabot, R.J., di Michele, F., Prichep, L., John, E.R., 2001. The clinical role of computerized EEG in the evaluation and treatment of learning and attention disorders in children and adolescents. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 13, 171–186.
- Charloux, A., Piquard, F., Ehrhart, J., Mettauer, B., Geny, B., Simon, C., Brandenberger, G., 2002. Time-courses in renin and blood pressure during sleep in humans. J. Sleep Res. 11, 73–79.
- Chen, A.C., Rappelsberger, P., Filz, O., 1998. Topology of EEG coherence changes may reflect differential neural network activation in cold and pain perception. Brain Topogr. 11, 125–132.
- Chesselet, M., Cheramy, A., Reisine, T., Lubetzki, C., Desban, M., Glowinski, J., 1983. Local and distal effects induced by unilateral striatal application of opiates in the absence or in the presence of naloxone on the release of dopamine in both caudate nuclei and substantiae nigrae of the cat. Brain Res. 258, 229–242.
- Chang, P.F., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Chen, A.C., 2002. Dynamic changes and spatial correlation of EEG activities during cold pressor test in man. Brain Res. Bull. 57, 667–675.
- Chang, A.W., Kuo, T.J., Chen, C.F., 1995. Power spectral analysis of electroencephalographic desynchronization induced by cocaine in rats: correlation with evaluation of noradrenergic neurotransmission at the medial prefrontal cortex. Synapse 21, 1149–1157.
- Chick, J., Erickson, C., 1996. Conference summary consensus conference on alcohol dependence and the role of pharmacotherapy in its treatment. Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res. 20, 391–402.
- Clarke, A.R., Barry, R.J., Bond, D., McCarthy, R., Selikowitz, M., 2002a. Effects of stimulant medications on the EEG of children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Psychopharmacology 164, 277–284.
- Clarke, A.R., Barry, R.J., McCarthy, R., Selikowitz, M., 2002b. EEG differences between good and poor responders to methylphenidate and dexamphetamine in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Clin. Neurophysiol. 113, 194–205.
- Clarke, A.R., Barry, R.J., McCarthy, R., Selikowitz, M., 2001. Age and sex effects in the EEG: development of the normal child. Clin. Neurophysiol. 112, 806–814.
- Cloninger, C.R., 1987. A systematic method for clinical description and classification of personality variants. A proposal. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 44, 573–588.
- Colrain, I.M., Crowley, K.E., Nicholas, C.L., Padilla, M., Baker, F.C., 2009b. The impact of alcoholism on sleep evoked delta frequency responses. Biol. Psychiatry 66, 177–184.
- Colrain, I.M., Turlington, S., Baker, F.C., 2009a. Impact of alcoholism on sleep architecture and EEG power spectra in men and women. Sleep 32, 1341–1352.
- Comings, D., Blum, K., 2000. Reward deficiency syndrome: genetic aspects of behavioral disorders. Prog. Brain Res. 126, 325–341.
- Comings, D., Chen, T.J.H., Blum, K., Mengucci, J.F., Blum, S.H., Meshkin, B., 2005. Neurogenetic interactions and aberrant behavioral co-morbidity of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): dispelling myths. Theor. Biol. Med. Model. 2, 50.
- Corr, P.J., 2002. J. A. Gray's reinforcement sensitivity theory and frustrative nonreward: a theoretical note on expectancies in reactions to rewarding stimuli. Pers. Ind. Diff. 32, 1247–1253.
- Corr, P.J., 2009. The reinforcement sensitivity theory of personality. In: Corr, P.J., Matthews, G. (Eds.), The Cambridge Handbook of Personality Psychology. Cambridge University Press, New York, pp. 347–376.
- Costa, L., Bauer, L., 1997. Quantitative electroencephalographic differences associated with alcohol, cocaine, heroin and dual-substance dependence. Drug Alcohol Depend. 46, 87–93.
- Courtney, K.E., Polich, J., 2010. Binge drinking effects on EEG in young adult humans. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 7, 2325–2336.
- Coutin-Churchman, P., Anez, Y., Uzcategui, M., Alvarez, L., Vergara, F., Mendez, L., Fleitas, R., 2003. Quantitative spectral analysis of EEG in psychiatry revisited: drawing signs out of numbers in a clinical setting. Clin. Neurophysiol. 114, 2294–2306.
- Coutin-Churchman, P., Moreno, R., 2008. Intracranial current density (LORETA) differences in QEEG frequency bands between depressed and non-depressed alcoholic patients. Clin. Neurophysiol. 119, 948–958.
- Coutin-Churchman, P., Moreno, R., Anez, Y., Vergara, F., 2006. Clinical correlates of quantitative EEG alterations in alcoholic patients. Clin. Neurophysiol. 117, 740–751.
- Criado, J.R., Ehlers, C.L., 2009. Event-related oscillations as risk markers in genetic mouse models of high alcohol preference. Neuroscience 163, 506–523.
- Dang-Vu, T.T., Schabus, M., Desseilles, M., Albouy, G., Boly, M., Darsaud, A., Gais, S., Rauchs, G., Sterpenich, V., Vandewalle, G., Carrier, J., Moonen, G., Balteau, E., Degueldre, C., Luxen, A., Phillips, C., Maquet, P., 2008. Spontaneous neural activity during human slow wave sleep. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 15160–15165.
- Deacon, T.W., 1990. Rethinking mammalian brain evolution. Am. Zool. 30, 629–705. Demiralp, T., Ademoglu, A., Comerchero, M., Polich, J., 2001. Wavelet analysis of P3a
- and P3b. Brain Topogr. 13, 251–267. De Vera, L., Gonzalez, J., Rial, R., 1994. Reptilian waking EEG: slow waves, spindles
- and evoked potentials. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 90, 298–303. Devine, D.P., Leone, P., Pocock, D., Wise, R.A., 1993. Differential involvement of ventral tegmental mu, delta and kappa opioid receptors in modulation of basal mesolimbic dopamine release: in vivo microdialysis studies. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 266, 1236–1246.
- Di Chiara, G., Imperato, A., 1988. Opposite effects of mu and kappa opiate agonists on dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens and in the dorsal caudate of freely moving rats. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 244, 1067–1080.
- Diekelmann, S., Born, J., 2010. The memory function of sleep. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11, 114–126.

- Dubbelink, K.T.E.O., Felius, A., Verbunt, J.P.A., van Dijk, B.W., Berendse, H.W., Stam, C.J., Delemarre-van de Waal, H.A., 2008. Increased resting-state functional connectivity in obese adolescents; a magnetoencephalographic pilot study. PLoS One 3, e2827.
- Duffy, E., 1962. Activation and Behavior. Wiley, New York.
- Dworak, M., McCarley, R.W., Kim, T., Kalinchuk, A.V., Basheer, R., 2010. Sleep and brain energy levels: ATP changes during sleep. J. Neurosci. 30, 9007–9016.
- Edenberg, H.J., Dick, D.M., Xuei, X., Tian, H., Almasy, L., Bauer, L.O., Crowe, R.R., Goate, A., Hesselbrock, V., Jones, K., Kwon, J., Li, T.K., Nurnberger Jr., J.I., O'Connor, S.J., Reich, T., Rice, J., Schuckit, M.A., Porjesz, B., Foroud, T., Begleiter, H., 2004. Variations in GABRA2, encoding the alpha 2 subunit of the GABA(A) receptor, are associated with alcohol dependence and with brain oscillations. Am. J. Hum. Genet, 74, 705–714.
- Ehlers, C.L., Phillips, E., Gizer, I.R., Gilder, D.A., Wilhelmsen, K.C., 2010. EEG spectral phenotypes: heritability and association with marijuana and alcohol dependence in an American Indian community study. Drug Alcohol Depend. 106, 101–110.
- Ergenoglu, T., Demiralp, T., Bayraktaroglu, Z., Ergen, M., Beydagi, H., Uresin, Y., 2004. Alpha rhythm of the EEG modulates visual detection performance in humans. Cogn. Brain Res. 20, 376–383.
- Esser, S.K., Hill, S., Tononi, G., 2007. Sleep homeostasis and cortical synchronization, I: modeling the effects of synaptic strength on sleep slow waves. Sleep 30, 1617–1630.
- Ettore, A.T., Kaplan, P.W.T., Maeder-Ingvar, M., Jukopila, S., Rossetti, A.O.T., 2011. Clinical correlates of frontal intermittent rhythmic delta activity (FIRDA). Clin. Neurophysiol. 122, 27–31.
- Engel, A.K., Friston, K., Kelso, J.A.S., König, P., Kovács, I., MacDonald III, A., Miller, E.K., Phillips, W.A., Silverstein, S.M., Tallon-Baudry, C., Triesch, J., Uhlhaas, P., 2010. Coordination in behavior and cognition. In: von der Malsburg, C., Phillips, W.A., Singer, W. (Eds.), Dynamic Coordination in the Brain: From Neurons to Mind. Strüngmann Forum Report, Vol. 5. Cambridge, MA, The MIT Press.
- Eysenck, H.J., 1967. The Biological Basis of Personality. Thomas, Springfield, IL.
- Feddersen, B., Ausserer, H., Neupane, P., Thanbichler, F., Depaulis, A., Waanders, R., Noachtar, S., 2007. Right temporal cerebral dysfunction heralds symptoms of acute mountain sickness. J. Neurol. 254, 359–363.
- Fehr, T., Kissler, J., Moratti, S., Wienbruch, C., Rockstroh, B., Elbert, T., 2001. Source distribution of neuromagnetic slow waves and MEG-delta activity in schizophrenic patients. Biol. Psychiatry 50, 108–116.
- Ferger, B., Kropf, W., Kuschinsky, K., 1994. Studies on electroencephalogram (EEG) in rats suggest that moderate doses of cocaine or d-amphetamine activate D1 rather than D2 receptors. Psychopharmacology 114, 297–308.
- Ferracuti, S., Seri, S., Mattia, D., Cruccu, G., 1994. Quantitative EEG modifications during the Cold Water Pressor Test: hemispheric and hand differences. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 17, 261–268.
- Ferrillo, F., Beelke, M., Canovaro, P., Watanabe, T., Arico, D., Rizzo, P., Garbarino, S., Nobili, L., De Carli, F., 2004. Changes in cerebral and autonomic activity heralding periodic limb movements in sleep. Sleep Med. 5, 407–412.
- Fink, M., Zaks, A., Volavka, J., Roubicek, J., 1971. Electrophysiological studies of opiates and antagonists in man. In: Clouet, D.H. (Ed.), Narcotic Drugs, Biochemical Pharmacology. Plenum, New York, pp. 452–467.
- Flanigan, W.F., 1973. Sleep and wakefulness in iguanid lizards Ctenosaura pectinata and Iguana iguana. Brain Behav. Evol. 8, 401–436.
- Flanigan, W.F., 1974. Sleep and wakefulness in Chelonian reptiles II. the red-footed tortoise Gechelone carbonaria. Arch. Ital. Biol. 112, 253–277.
- Flanigan, W.F., Knight, C.P., Hartse, K.M., Rechtschaffen, A., 1974. Sleep and wakefulness in chelonian reptiles I. The box turtle. Arch. Ital. Biol. 112, 227–252.
- Flanigan, W.F., Wilcox, R.H., Rechtschaffen, A., 1973. The EEG and behavioural continuum of the crocodilian *Caiman sclerops*. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 34, 521–538.
- Foltin, R.W., Haney, M., 2000. Conditioned effects of environmental stimuli paired with smoked cocaine in humans. Psychopharmacology 149, 24–33.
- Fowles, D.C., 2006. Jeffrey Gray's contributions to theories of anxiety, personality, and psychopathology. In: Canli, T. (Ed.), Biology of Personality and Individual Differences. Guilford Press, New York, pp. 7–34.
- Frank, M.G., 2006. The mystery of sleep function: current perspectives and future directions. Rev. Neurosci. 17, 375–392.
- Fu, Y., Chen, Y., Zeng, T., Peng, Y., Tian, S., Ma, Y., 2008. Delta EEG activity in left orbitofrontal cortex in rats related to food reward and craving. Zool. Res. 29, 260–264.
- Gangadharar, B.N., Ancy, J., Janakiramaiah, N., Umapathy, C., 1993. P300 amplitude in nonbipolar, melancholic depression. J. Affect. Disord. 28, 57–60.
- Gao, Y., Raine, A., 2009. P3 event-related potential impairments in antisocial and psychopathic individuals: a meta-analysis. Biol. Psychol. 82, 199–210.
- Gatt, J.M., Kuan, S.A., Dobson-Stone, C., Paul, R.H., Joffe, R.T., Kemp, A.H., Gordon, E., Schofield, P.R., Williams, L.M., 2008. Association between BDNF Val66Met polymorphism and trait depression is mediated via resting EEG alpha band activity. Biol. Psychol. 79, 275–284.
- Gauthier, A.K., Chevrette, T., Bouvier, H., Godbout, R., 2009. Evening vs. morning wake EEG activity in adolescents with anxiety disorders. J. Anxiety Disord. 23, 112–117.
- Gaztelu, J.M., Garcia-Austt, E., Bullock, T.H., 1991. Electrocorticograms of hippocampal and dorsal cortex of two reptiles: comparison with possible mammalian homologs. Brain Behav. Evol. 37, 144–160.
- Genco, S., de Tommaso, M., Prudenzano, A.M., Savarese, M., Puca, F.M., 1994. EEG features in juvenile migraine: topographic analysis of spontaneous and visual

evoked brain electrical activity: a comparison with adult migraine. Cephalalgia 14, 41–46.

Gianoulakis, C., 2004. Endogenous opioids and addiction to alcohol and other drugs of abuse. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 4, 1–14.

- Gloor, P., Ball, G., Schaul, N., 1977. Brain lesions that produce delta waves in the EEG. Neurology 27, 326.
- Gobbini, M.I., Koralek, A.C., Bryan, R.E., Montgomery, K.J., Haxby, J.V., 2007. Two takes on the social brain: a comparison of theory of mind tasks. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 19, 1803–1814.
- Gonzalez, J., Gamundi, A., Rial, R., Nicolau, M.C., De Vera, L., Pereda, E., 1999. Nonlinear, fractal, and spectral analysis of the EEG of lizard, *Gallotia galloti*. Am. J. Physiol. 277, R86–R93.
- Grace, A.A., 1995. The tonic/phasic model of dopamine system regulation: its relevance for understanding how stimulant abuse can alter basal ganglia function. Drug Alcohol Depend. 37, 111–129.
- Gray, J.A., 1987. The Psychology of Fear and Stress, 2nd ed. Oxford University Press.
- Gray, J.A., 1999. Cognition, emotion, conscious experience and the brain. In: Dalgleish, T., Power, M. (Eds.), Handbook of Cognition and Emotion. John Wiley and Sons Ltd..
- Gray, J.A., McNaughton, N., 1996. The neuropsychology of anxiety: reprise. In: Hope, D.A. (Ed.), Nebraska Symposium on Motivation, Vol. 43: Perspectives on Anxiety, Panic, and Fear. University of Nebraska Press, Lincoln, pp. 61–134.
- Gronfier, C., Simon, C., Piquard, F., Ehrhart, J., Brandenberger, G., 1999. Neuroendocrine processes underlying ultradian sleep regulation in man. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 84, 2686–2690.
- Hammond, D.C., 2003. The Effects of Caffeine on the Brain: A Review. J. Neurotherapy 7, 79–89.
- Hare, R.D., 1970. Psychopathy. Theory and practice. Wiley, New York.
- Harmony, T., Fernandez, T.F., Silva, J., 1996. EEG delta activity: an indicator of attention to internal processing during performance of mental tasks. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 24, 161–171.
- Harmony, T., Fernández-Bouzas, A., Marosi, E., Fernández, T., Valdés, P., Bosch, J., Riera, J., Bernal, J., Rodríguez, M., Reyes, A., Silva, J., Alonso, M., Cabrera, J.M.S., 1995. Frequency source analysis in patients with brain lesions. Brain Topogr. 8, 109–117.
- Harmony, T., Marosi, E., Diaz de Leon, A.E., Becker, J., Fernandez, T., 1990. Effect of sex, psychosocial disadvantages and biological risk factors on EEG maturation. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 75, 482–491.
- Hart, C.L., Ward, A.S., Collins, E.D., Haney, M., Foltin, R.W., 2004. Gabapentin maintenance decreases smoked cocaine-related subjective effects, but not selfadministration by humans. Drug Alcohol Depend. 73, 279–287.
- Heikkila, R.E., Orlansky, H., Cohen, G., 1975. Studies on the distinction between uptake inhibition and release of [3H] dopamine in rat brain tissue slices. Biochem. Pharmacol. 24, 847–852.
- Heller, W., Nitschke, J.B., Etienne, M.A., Miller, G.A., 1997. Patterns of regional brain activity differentiate types of anxiety. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 106, 376–385.
- Herning, R.I., Better, W., Tate, K., Cadet, J.L., 2005. Neuropsychiatric alterations in MDMA users: preliminary findings. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1053, 20–27.
- Herrmann, W.M., Winterer, G., 1996. Electroencephalography in psychiatry-current status and outlook. Nervenarzt 67, 348–359.
- Herning, R.I., Glover, B.J., Koeppl, B., Phillips, R.L., London, E.D., 1994. Cocaineinduced increases in EEG alpha and beta activity: evidence for reduced cortical processing. Neuropsychopharmacology 11, 1–9.
- Herning, R.I., Jones, R.T., Hooker, W.D., Mendelson, J., Blackwell, L., 1985. Cocaine increases EEG beta: a replication and extension of Hans Berger's historic experiments. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 60, 470–477.
- Hofle, N., Paus, T., Reutens, D., 1997. Regional cerebral blood flow changes as a function of delta and spindle activity during slow wave sleep in humans. J. Neurosci. 17, 4800–4808.
- Huber, M.T., Bartling, J., Pachur, D., Woikowsky-Biedau, S., Lautenbacher, S., 2006. EEG responses to tonic heat pain. Exp. Brain Res. 173, 14–24.
- Ingvar, D.H., Sulg, I.A., 1969. Regional cerebral blood flow and EEG frequency content in man. Scand. J. Clin. Invest. 23 (Suppl. 109), 47–66.
- Jackson, J.H., 1958. Evolution and dissolution of the nervous system. In: Taylor, J. (Ed.), Se-lected Wrightings of John Hughlings Jackson. Stapes Press, London, pp. 45–118.
- Jacobs, R.A., Jordan, M.I., 1992. Computational consequences of a bias toward short connections. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 4, 323–336.
- Jann, K., Kottlow, M., Dierks, T., Boesch, C., Koenig, T., 2010. Topographic electrophysiological signatures of fMRI resting state networks. PLoS ONE 5, e12945.
- Ji, D., Wilson, M.A., 2007. Coordinated memory replay in the visual cortex and hippocampus during sleep. Nat. Neurosci. 10, 100–107.
- John, E.R., Ahn, H., Prichep, L., Trepetin, M., Brown, D., Kaye, H., 1980. Developmental equations for the electroencephalogram. Science 210, 1255–1258.
- Jones, K.A., Porjesz, B., Almasy, L., Bierut, L., Goate, A., Wang, J.C., Dick, D.M., Hinrichs, A., Kwon, J., Rice, J.P., Rohrbaugh, J., Stock, H., Wu, W., Bauer, L.O., Chorlian, D.B., Crowe, R.R., Edenberg, H.J., Foroud, T., Hesselbrock, V., Kuperman, S., Nurnberger Jr., J., O'Connor, S.J., Schuckit, M.A., Stimus, A.T., Tischfield, J.A., Reich, T., Begleiter, H., 2004. Linkage and linkage disequilibrium of evoked EEG oscillations with CHRM2 receptor gene polymorphisms: implications for human brain dynamics and cognition. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 53, 75–90.
- Jurysta, F., Kempenaers, C., Lancini, J., Lanquart, J.-P., Van De Borne, P., Linkowski, P., 2010. Altered interaction between cardiac vagal influence and delta sleep EEG suggests an altered neuroplasticity in patients suffering from major depressive disorder: brief communication. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 121, 236–239.

- Jurysta, F., Lanquart, J.-P., Sputaels, V., Dumont, M., Migeotte, P.-F., Leistedt, S., Linkowski, P., van de Borne, P., 2009. The impact of chronic primary insomnia on the heart rate EEG variability link. Clin. Neurophysiol. 120, 1054–1060.
- Jurysta, F., Lanquart, J.-P., Van De Borne, P., Migeotte, P.-F., Dumont, M., Degaute, J.-P., Linkowski, P., 2006. The link between cardiac autonomic activity and sleep delta power is altered in men with sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Compar. Physiol. 291, R1165–R1171.
- Jurysta, F., van de Borne, P., Lanquart, J.P., Migeotte, P.F., Degaute, J.P., Dumont, M., Linkowski, P., 2005. Progressive aging does not alter the interaction between autonomic cardiac activity and delta EEG power. Clin. Neurophysiol. 116, 871–877.
- Kamarajan, C., Porjesz, B., Jones, K.A., Choi, K., Chorlian, D.B., Padmanabhapillai, A., Rangaswamy, M., Stimus, A.T., Begleiter, H., 2004. The role of brain oscillations as functional correlates of cognitive systems: a study of frontal inhibitory control in alcoholism. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 51, 155–180.
- Kamarajan, C., Porjesz, B., Jones, K.A., Chorlian, D.B., Padmanabhapillai, A., Rangaswamy, M., Stimus, A.T., Begleiter, H., 2006. Event-related oscillations in offspring of alcoholics: neurocognitive disinhibition as a risk for alcoholism. Biol. Psychiatry 59, 625–634.
- Karakas, S., Erzengin, O.U., Basar, E., 2000. A new strategy involving multiple cognitive paradigms demonstrates that ERP components are determined by the superposition of oscillatory responses. Clin. Neuropathol. 111, 1719–1732.
- Kaneko, W.M., 1995. Electrophysiology, behavior, and temperament of fetal alcohol syndrome and Down syndrome children. Dissert. Abstr. Int. B 55 (7-B), 3054.
- Karson, C.N., Coppola, R., Morihisa, J.M., Weinberger, D.R., 1987. Computed electroencephalographic activity mapping in schizophrenia. The resting state reconsidered. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 44, 514–517.
- Kaufmann, C., Wehrle, R., Wetter, T.C., Holsboer, F., Auer, D.P., Pollmächer, T., Czisch, M., 2006. Brain activation and hypothalamic functional connectivity during human non-rapid eye movement sleep: an EEG/fMRI study. Brain 129, 655–667.
- Kiehl, K.A., Bates, A.T., Laurens, K.R., Hare, R.D., Liddle, P.F., 2006. Brain potentials implicate temporal lobe abnormalities in criminal psychopaths. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 115, 443–453.
- Kim, Y.Y., Kim, H.J., Kim, E.N., Ko, H.D., Kim, H.T., 2005. Characteristic changes in the physiological components of cybersickness. Psychophysiology 42, 616–625.
- Kiroy, V.N., Warsawskaya, L.V., Voynov, V.B., 1996. EEG after prolonged mental activity. Int. J. Neurosci. 85, 31–43.
- Kiyatkin, E.A., Smirnov, M.S., 2009. Rapid EEG desynchronization and EMG activation induced by intravenous cocaine in freely moving rats: a peripheral, nondopamine neural triggering. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 298, R285–R300.
- Klados, M., Frantzidis, C., Vivas, A.B., Papadelis, C., Lithari, C., Pappas, C., Bamidis, P.D., 2009. A framework combining delta event-related oscillations (EROs) and synchronisation effects (ERD/ERS) to study emotional processing. Comput. Intell. Neurosci., 16, Article ID 549419.
- Klimesch, W., 1996. Memory processes, brain oscillations and EEG synchronization. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 24, 61–100.
- Klimesch, W., 1999. EEG alpha and theta oscillations reflect cognitive and memory performance: a review and analysis. Brain Res. Rev. 29, 169–195.
- Knott, V.J., 1990. Neuroelectrical activity related to panic disorder. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 14, 697–707.
- Knott, V., Cosgrove, M., Villeneuve, C., Fisher, D., Millar, A., McIntosh, J., 2008. EEG correlates of imagery-induced cigarette craving in male and female smokers. Addict. Behav. 33, 616–621.
- Knott, V.J., Lapierre, Y.D., 1988. Neuropsychophysiological correlates of lactateinduced panic. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 12, 183–192.
- Knott, V., Mahoney, C., Kennedy, S., Evans, K., 2000. Pre-treatment EEG and it's relationship to depression severity and paroxetine treatment outcome. Pharmacopsychiatry 33, 201–205.
- Knyazev, G.G., 2007. Motivation, emotion, and their inhibitory control mirrored in brain oscillations. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 31, 377–395.
- Knyazev, G.G., 2011. Cross-frequency coupling of brain oscillations: an impact of state anxiety. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 80, 236–245.
- Knyazev, G.G., Savostyanov, A.N., Levin, E.A., 2004. Alpha oscillations as a correlate of trait anxiety. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 53, 147–160.
- Knyazev, G.G., Savostyanov, A.N., Levin, E.A., 2005. Anxiety and synchrony of alpha oscillations. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 57, 175–180.
- Knyazev, G.G., Savostyanov, A.N., Levin, E.A., 2006. Alpha synchronization and anxiety: implications for inhibition vs. alertness hypotheses. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 59, 151–158.
- Knyazev, G.G., Slobodskaya, H.R., 2003. Personality trait of behavioral inhibition is associated with oscillatory systems reciprocal relationships. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 48, 247–261.
- Koob, G.F., 1992. Drugs of abuse: anatomy, pharmacology and function of reward pathways. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 13, 177–193.
- Korb, A.S., Cook, I.A., Hunter, A.M., Leuchter, A.F., 2008. Brain electrical source differences between depressed subjects and healthy controls. Brain Topogr. 21, 138–146.
- Kraaier, V., Van Huffelen, A.C., Wieneke, G.H., 1988a. Quantitative EEG changes due to hypobaric hypoxia in normal subjects. Electroenceph. Clin. Neurophysiol. 69, 303–312.
- Kraaier, V., Van Huffelen, A.C., Wieneke, G.H., 1988b. Changes in quantitative EEG and blood flow velocity due to standardized hyper-ventilation; a model of transient ischemia in young human subjects. Electroenceph. Clin. Neurophysiol. 70, 377–387.

Kreppner, J.M., O'Connor, T.G., Rutter, M., 2001. Can inattention/overactivity be an institutional deprivation syndrome? J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 29, 513–528.

- Kronenberg, G., Schredl, M., Fiedler, K., Heuser, I., 2001. In healthy volunteers responses to challenge with cholecystokinin tetrapeptide differ between administration during REM and delta sleep. Depress. Anxiety 14, 141–144.
- Kropf, W., Kuschinsky, K., 1993. Effects of stimulation of dopamine D1 receptors on the cortical EEG in rats: different influences by a blockade D2 receptors and by an activation of putative dopamine autoreceptors. Neuropharmacology 32, 493–500.
- Lakatos, P., Karmos, G., Mehta, A.D., Ulbert, I., Schroeder, C.E., 2008. Entrainment of neuronal oscillations as a mechanism of attentional selection. Science 320, 110.
- Lal, S.K.L., Craig, A., 2002. Driver fatigue: electroencephalography and psychological assessment. Psychophysiology 39, 313–321.
- Lal, S.K.L., Craig, A., 2005. Reproducibility of the spectral components of the electroencephalogram during driver fatigue. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 55, 137–143.
- Lambertz, M., Langhorst, P., 1998. Simultaneous changes of rhythmic organization in brainstem neurons, respiration, cardiovascular system and EEG between 0.05 Hz and 0.5 Hz. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 68, 58–77.
- Lambertz, M., Vandenhouten, R., Grebe, R., Langhorst, P., 2000. Phase transitions in the common brainstem and related systems investigated by nonstationary time series analysis. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 78, 141–157.
- Lancel, M., Cronlein, J., Muller-Preuss, P., Holsboer, F., 1995. Lipopolysaccharide increases EEG delta activity within non-REM sleep and disrupts sleep continuity in rats. AJP – Regul. Physiol. 268, R1310–R1318.
- Langhorst, P., Lambertz, M., Kluge, W., Rittweger, J., 1992. Different modes of dampening influence from baroreceptors are determined by the functional organization of the NTS neuronal network. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 41, 141–156.
- Langhorst, P., Lambertz, M., Schulz, G., 1981. Central control and interactions affecting sympathetic and parasympathetic activity. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 4, 149–163.
- Lavin, A., Grace, A.A., 1996. Physiological properties of rat ventral pallidal neurons recorded intracellularly in vivo. J. Neurophysiol. 75, 1432–1443.
- Lee Kavanau, J., 2002. REM and NREM sleep as natural accompaniments of the evolution of warm-bloodedness. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 26, 889–906.
- Le Pera, D., Svensson, P., Valeriani, M., Watanabe, I., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Chen, A.C., 2000. Long-lasting effect evoked by tonic muscle pain on parietal EEG activity in humans. Clin. Neurophysiol. 111, 2130–2137.
- Lesser, I.M., Poland, R.E., Holcomb, C., Rose, D.E., 1985. Electroencephalographic study of nighttime panic attacks. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 173, 744–746.
- Leung, L.S., Yim, C.Y., 1993. Rhythmic delta-frequency activities in the nucleus accumbens of anesthetized and freely moving rats. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 71, 311–320.
- Li, S.-J., Luo, F., Schulte, M., Hudetz, H., 2006. Negative BOLD signals correlate with synchronized delta oscillations induced by heroin in the nucleus accumbens of the rat brain. Proc. Intl. Soc. Mag. Reson. Med. 14, 797.
- Lu, H., Zuo, Y., Gu, H., Waltz, J.A., Zhan, W., Scholl, C.A., Rea, W., Yang, Y., Stein, E.A., 2007. Synchronized delta oscillations correlate with the resting-state functional MRI signal. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 18265–18269.
- Lukas, S.E., 1991. Topographic mapping during cocaine-induced intoxication and self-administration. In: Racagni, G., Brunello, N., Fukuda, T. (Eds.), Biological Psychiatry, vol 2. Elsevier Science Publishers, New York, pp. 25–29.
- Luoh, H.F., Kuo, T.B., Chan, A.H., 1994. Power spectral analysis of electroencephalographic desynchronization induced by cocaine in rats: correlation with microdialysis evaluation of dopaminergic neurotransmission at the medial prefrontal cortex. Synapse 16, 29–35.
- Luu, P., Tucker, D.M., Derryberry, D., 1998. Anxiety and the motivational basis of working memory. Cogn. Ther. Res. 22, 577–594.
- MacLean, P.D., 1990. The Triune Brain in Evolution. Plenum Press, New York.
- Makeig, S., Jung, T., 1996. Tonic, phasic, and transient EEG correlates of auditory awareness in drowsiness. Cogn. Brain Res. 4, 15–25.
- Maquet, P., 2000. Functional neuroimaging of normalhumansleep by positron emission tomography. J. Sleep Res. 9, 207–231.
- Maquet, P., Degueldre, C., Delfiore, G., et al., 1997. Functional neuroanatomy of human slow wave sleep. J. Neurosci. 17, 2807–2812.
- Marshall, P.J., Fox, N.A., the BEIP Core Group, 2004. A comparison of the electroencephalogram between institutionalized and community children in Romania. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 16, 1327–1338.
- Marshall, L., Helgadottir, H., Molle, M., Born, J., 2006. Boosting slow oscillations during sleep potentiates memory. Nature 444, 610–613.
- Mathias, C.W., Stanford, M.S., 1999. P300 under standard and surprise conditions in self-reported impulsive aggression. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 23, 1037–1051.
- Matousek, M., Petersen, I., 1973. Automatic evaluation of EEG background activity by means of age-dependent EEG quotients. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 35, 603–612.
- McGinty, D., Szymusiak, R., Thomson, D., 1994. Preoptic/anterior hypothalamic warming increases EEG delta frequency activity within non-rapid eye movement sleep. Brain Res. 667, 273–277.
- Meerlo, P., Pragt, B.J., Daan, S., 1997. Social stress induces high intensity sleep in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 225, 41–44.
- Mellman, T.A., Uhde, T.W., 1989. Electroencephalographic sleep in panic disorder. A focus on sleep-related panic attacks. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 46, 178–184.
- Mesulam, M., Mufson, E., 1982. Insula of the old world monkey. III: Efferent cortical output and comments on function. J. Comp. Neurol. 212, 38–52.
- Meyer, J.S., Waltz, A.G., 1960. Arterial oxygen saturation and alveolar carbon dioxide during electroencephalography. I. Comparison of hyperventilation and induced hypoxia in subjects without brain disease. Arch. Neurol. 2, 631–643.

- Michel, C.M., Henggeler, B., Brandeis, D., 1993. Localization of sources of brain alpha/theta/delta activity and the influence of the mode of spontaneous mentation. Physiol. Meas. 14, 21–26.
- Michel, C.M., Lehmann, D., Henggeler, B., 1992. Localization of the sources EEG delta, theta, alpha and beta frequency bands using the FFT dipole approximation. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 82, 38–44.
- Miskovic, V., Schmidt, L.A., Boyle, M., Saigal, S., 2009. Regional electroencephalogram (EEG) spectral power and hemispheric coherence in young adults born at extremely low birth weight. Clin. Neurophysiol. 120, 231–238.
- Mitchell, J.P., 2006. Mentalizing and Marr: an information processing approach to the study of social cognition. Brain Res. 1079, 66–75.
- Moeller, F.G., Barratt, E.S., Fischer, C.J., Dougherty, D.M., Reilly, E.L., Mathias, C.W., Swann, A.C., 2004. P300 event-related potential amplitude and impulsivity in cocaine-dependent subjects. Neuropsychobiology 50, 167–173.
- Mohedano-Moriano, A., Pro-Sistiaga, P., Arroyo-Jimenez, M.M., Artacho-Pérula, E., Insausti, A.M., Marcos, P., Cebada-Sánchez, S., Martínez-Ruiz, J., Muñoz, M., Blaizot, X., Martinez-Marcos, A., Amaral, D.G., Insausti, R., 2007. Topographical and laminar distribution of cortical input to the monkey entorhinal cortex. J. Anat. 211, 250–260.
- Montagna, P., Gambetti, P., Cortelli, P., Lugaresi, E., 2003. Familial and sporadic fatal insomnia. Lancet Neurol. 2, 167–176.
- Moruzzi, G., 1972. The sleep-waking cycle. In: Adrian, R.H., et al. (Eds.), Reviews of Physiology, Biochemistry and Experimental Pharmacology, Vol. 64. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 1–165.
- Muellbacher, W., Mamoli, B., 1994. Prolonged impaired consciousness in basilar artery migraine. Headache 34, 282–285.
- Mulert, C., Juckel, G., Giegling, I., Pogarell, O., Leicht, G., Karch, S., Mavrogiorgou, P., Moller, H.J., Hegerl, U., Rujescu, D., 2006. A Ser9Gly polymorphism in the dopamine D3 receptor gene (DRD3) and event-related P300 potentials. Neuropsychopharmacology 31, 1335–1344.
- Murphy, M., Riedner, B.A., Huber, R., Massimini, M., Ferrarelli, F., Tononi, G., 2009. Source modeling sleep slow waves. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 1608–1613. Naatanen, R., 1992. Attention and Brain Function. Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ.
- Nagata, K., Tagawa, K., Hiroi, S., Shishido, F., Uemura, K., 1989. Electroencephalographic correlates of blood flow and oxygen metabolism provided by positron emission tomography in patients with cerebral infarction. Electroenceph. Clin. Neurophysiol. 72, 16–30.
- Newton, T.F., Cook, I.A., Kalechstein, A.D., Duran, S., Monroy, F., Ling, W., Leuchter, A.F., 2003. Quantitative EEG abnormalities in recently abstinent methamphetamine dependent individuals. Clin. Neurophysiol. 114, 410–415.
- Nicolaua, M.C., Akaarir, M., Gamundi, A., Gonzalez, J., Rial, R.V., 2000. Why we sleep: the evolutionary pathway to the mammalian sleep. Prog. Neurobiol. 62, 379–406.
- Niedermeyer, E., Naidu, S.B., 1998a. Attention deficit disorder and frontal motor cortex disconnection. Clin. EEG 28, 130–136.
- Niedermeyer, E., Naidu, S.B., 1998b. Rett syndrome, EEG and the motor cortex as a model for better understanding of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 7, 69–72.
- Ninomija, S.P., Funada, M.F., Yazu, Y., Ide, H., Daimon, N., 1993. Possibility of ECGs to improve reliability of detection system of inclining sleep stages by grouped alpha waves. In: Proceedings of the 15th Annual International Conference of the IEEE, pp. 1410–1411.
- Noble, E.P., Berman, S.M., Ozkaragoz, T.Z., Ritchie, T., 1994. Prolonged P300 latency in children with the D2 dopamine receptor A1 allele. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 54, 658–668.
- Nunez, P.L., 1995. Neocortical Dynamics and Human EEG Rhythms. Oxford University Press, New York.
  Nunez, P.L., 2000. Toward a quantitative description of large-scale neocortical
- Nunez, P.L., 2000. Toward a quantitative description of large-scale neocortical dynamic function and EEG. Behav. Brain Sci. 23, 371–398.
- Olbrich, S., Jahn, I., Hegerl, U., Stengler, K., 2009. EEG-source estimates and vigilance regulation in obsessive compulsive disorder in comparison to healthy controls. Eur. Psychiatry 26, 977.
- Olesen, S.S., Hansen, T.M., Graversen, C., Steimle, K., Wilder-Smith, O.H.G., Drewes, A.M., 2011. Slowed EEG rhythmicity in patients with chronic pancreatitis: evidence of abnormal cerebral pain processing? Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 23, 418–424.
- Ortiz, J., Raine, A., 2004. Heart rate level and antisocial behavior in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 43, 154–162.
- Otero, G.A., Aguirre, D.M., Porcayo, R., Millán, L., 1997. Neurobehavioral development of children living in poverty environments. Revista Internationaler americana de Psicología 31, 185–201.
- Ozaki, H., Watanabe, S., Suzuki, H., 1995. Topographic EEG changes due to hypobaric hypoxia at simulated high altitude. Electroencephal. Clin. Neurophysiol. 94, 349–356.
- Palva, S., Palva, J.M., 2007. New vistas for alpha-frequency band oscillations. Trends Neurosci. 30, 150–158.
- Panksepp, J., 1998. Affective Neuroscience. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Papageorgiou, C.C., Liappas, I.A., Ventouras, E.M., Nikolaou, C.C., Kitsonas, E.N., Uzunoglu, N.K., Rabavilas, A.D., 2004. Long-term abstinence syndrome in heroin addicts: indices of P300 alterations associated with a short memory task. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 28, 1109–1115.
- Papageorgiou, C., Rabavilas, A., Liappas, I., Stefanis, C., 2003. Do obsessivecompulsive patients and abstinent heroin addicts share a common psychophysiological mechanism? Neuropsychobiology 47, 1–11.

Parnefjord, R., Basar, E., 1999. Evoked delta oscillations on the hearing threshold. In: Basar, E. (Ed.), Brain Function and Oscillations. II. Integrative Brain Function. Neurophysiology and Cognitive Processes. Springer, Berlin.

Passier, P.E., Vredeveld, J.W., de Krom, M.C., 1994. Basilar migraine with severe EEG abnormalities. Headache 34, 56–58.

- Pedemonte, M., Rodriguez-Alvez, A., Velluti, R.A., 2005. Electroencephalographic frequencies associated with heart changes in RR interval variability during paradoxical sleep. Auton. Neurosci. Basic Clin. 123, 82–86.
- Peigneux, P., Laureys, S., Fuchs, S., Collette, F., Perrin, F., Reggers, J., Phillips, C., Degueldre, C., Del Fiore, G., Aerts, J., Luxen, A., Maquet, P., 2004. Are spatial memories strengthened in the human hippocampus during slow wave sleep? Neuron 44, 535–545.
- Penolazzi, B., Spironelli, C., Angrilli, A., 2008. Delta EEG activity as a marker of dysfunctional linguistic processing in developmental dyslexia. Psychophysiology 45, 1025–1033.
- Peyreton, J., Dusan-Peyreton, D., 1969. Etude poligraphique du cycle veille sommeil chez trois genres de reptiles. C. R. Soc. Biol. 163, 181–186.
- Phillips, R.L., Herning, R., London, E.D., 1994. Morphine effects on the spontaneous electroencephalogram in polydrug abusers: correlations with subjective selfreports. Neuropsychopharmacology 10, 171–181.
- Pizzagalli, D.A., Oakes, T.R., Fox, A.S., Chung, M.K., Larson, C.L., Abercrombie, H.C., Schaefer, S.M., Benca, R.M., Davidson, R.J., 2004. Functional but not structural subgenual prefrontal cortex abnormalities in melancholia. Mol. Psychiatry 9, 393–405.
- Porges, S.W., 1995. Cardiac vagal tone: a physiological index of stress. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 19, 225–233.
- Porjesz, B., Rangaswamy, M., Kamarajan, C., Jones, K.A., Padmanabhapillai, A., Begleiter, H., 2005. The utility of neurophysiological markers in the study of alcoholism. Clin. Neuropathol. 116, 993–1018.
- Prichep, L.S., Alper, K.R., Kowalik, S., Merkin, H., Tom, M.L., John, R., Rosenthal, M.S., 1996. Quantitative electroencephalographic characteristics of crack cocaine dependence. Biol. Psychiatry 40, 986–993.
- Puelles, L., 2001. Thoughts on the development, structure and evolution of the mammalian and avian telencephalic pallium. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 356, 1583–1589.
- Raichle, M.E., 2006. Neuroscience: the brain's dark energy. Science 314, 1249–1250. Raine, A., 1993. The Psychopathology of Crime: Criminal Behavior as a Clinical Disorder. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Raine, A., Venables, P.H., 1987. Contingent negative variation, P3 evoked potentials, and antisocial behavior. Psychophysiology 24, 191–199.
- Raine, A., Venables, P.H., Dalais, C., Mellingen, K., Reynolds, C., Mednick, S.A., 2001. Early educational and health enrichment at age 3–5, years is associated with increased autonomic and central nervous system arousal and orienting at age 11, years: evidence from the Mauritius Child Health Project. Psychophysiology 38, 254–266.
- Ramelli, G.P., Sturzenegger, M., Donati, F., Karbowski, K., 1998. EEG findings during basilar migraine attacks in children. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 107, 374–378.
- Rangaswamy, M., Jones, K.A., Porjesz, B., Chorlian, D.B., Padmanabhapillai, A., Kamarajan, C., Kuperman, S., Rohrbaugh, J., O'Connor, S.J., Bauer, L.O., Schuckit, M.A., Begleiter, H., 2007. Delta and theta oscillations as risk markers in adolescent offspring of alcoholics. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 63, 3–15.
- Rasch, B., Buchel, C., Gais, S., Born, J., 2007. Odor cues during slow-wave sleep prompt declarative memory consolidation. Science 315, 1426–1429.
- Rattenborg, N.C., 2006. Evolution of slow-wave sleep and palliopallial connectivity in mammals and birds: a hypothesis. Brain Res. Bull. 69, 20–29.
- Rattenborg, N.C., 2007. Response to commentary on evolution of slow-wave sleep and palliopallial connectivity in mammals and birds: a hypothesis. Brain Res. Bull. 72, 187–193.
- Rattenborg, N.C., Martinez-Gonzalez, D., Lesku, J.A., 2009. Avian sleep homeostasis: convergent evolution of complex brains, cognition and sleep functions in mammals and birds. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 33, 253–270.
- Ray, W.J., Odenwald, M., Neuner, F., Schauer, M., Ruf, M., Wienbruch, C., Rockstroh, B., Elbert, T., 2006. Decoupling neural networks from reality: dissociative experiences in torture victims are reflected in abnormal brain waves in left frontal cortex. Psychol. Sci. 17, 825–829.
- Rechtschaffen, A., Bergmann, B.M., 2002. Sleep deprivation in the rat: an update of the 1989 paper. Sleep 25, 18–24.
- Reid, M.S., Flammino, F., Howard, B., Nilsen, D., Leslie, S., Prichep, L.S., 2006. Topographic imaging of quantitative EEG in response to smoked cocaine selfadministration in humans. Neuropsychopharmacology 31, 872–884.
- Reid, M.S., Prichep, L., O'Leary, S., Ciplet, D., Tom, M.L., Howard, B., 2003. Quantitative electroencephalographic studies of cue-induced cocaine craving. Clin. EEG 34, 110–123.
- Reiner, A., 1993. Neurotransmitter organization and connections of turtle cortex: implications for the evolution of mammalian isocortex. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 104A, 735–748.
- Rial, R.V., Akaarir, M., Gamundi, A., Nicolau, C., Garau, C., Aparicio, S., Tejada, S., Gene, L., Gonzalez, J., De Vera, L.M., Coenen, A.M.L., Barcelo, P., Esteban, S., 2010. Evolution of wakefulness, sleep and hibernation: from reptiles to mammals. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 34, 1144–1160.
- Rial, R.V., Nicolaua, M.C., Gamundia, A., Akaârira, M., Aparicio, S., Garau, C., Tejada, S., Roca, C., Gené, L., Moranta, D., Esteban, S., 2007b. The trivial function of sleep. Sleep Med. Rev. 11, 311–325.
- Rial, R.V., Nicolaua, M.C., Gamundia, A., Akaârira, M., Garaua, C., Aparicioa, S., Tejadaa, S., Morantaa, D., Genéa, L., Esteban, S., 2007a. Comments on evolution of sleep

and the palliopallial connectivity in mammals and birds. Brain Res. Bull. 72, 183–186.

- Rial, R.V., Nicolau, M.C., Lo pez-GarcõÂa, J.A., Almirall, H., 1993. On the evolution of waking and sleeping. Comp. Physiol. Biochem. 104A, 189–193.
- Roemer, R.A., Cornwell, A., Dewart, D., Jackson, P., Ercegovac, D.V., 1995. Quantitative electroencephalographic analyses in cocaine-preferring polysubstance abusers during abstinence. Psychiatry Res. 58, 247–257.
- Rubenstein, J.L.R., Martinez, S., Shimamura, K., Puelles, L., 1994. The embryonic vertebrate forebrain: the prosomeric model. Science 266, 578–580.
- Rubenstein, J.L.R., Shimamura, K., Martinez, S., Puelles, L., 1998. Regionalization of the prosencephalic neural plate. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 21, 445–477.
- Salamone, J.D., Correa, M., 2002. Motivational views of reinforcement: implications for understanding the behavioral functions of nucleus accumbens dopamine. Behav. Brain Res. 137, 3–25.
- Saletu, B., Anderer, P., Saletu-Zyhlarz, G.M., 2010. EEG topography and tomography (LORETA) in diagnosis and pharmacotherapy of depression. Clin. EEG Neurosci. 41, 203–210.
- Saletu, B., Grunberger, J., 1985. Memory dysfunction and vigilance: neurophysiological and psychopharmacological aspects. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 444, 406–427.
- Saletu-Zyhlarz, G.M., Arnold, O., Anderer, P., Oberndorfer, S., Walter, H., Lesch, O.M., Boning, J., Saletu, B., 2004. Differences in brain function between relapsing and abstaining alcohol-dependent patients, evaluated by EEG mapping. Alcohol Alcohol. 39, 233–240.
- Sand, T., 1991. EEG in migraine: a review of the literature. Funct. Neurol. 6, 7-22.
- Sanz-Martin, A., Guevara, M.A., Amezcua, C., Santana, G., Hernandez-Gonzalez, M., 2011. Effects of red wine on the electrical activity and functional coupling between prefrontal-parietal cortices in young men. Appetite 57, 84–93.
- Savory, C.J., Kostal, L., 2006. Is expression of some behaviours associated with dearousal in restricted-fed chickens? Physiol. Behav. 88, 473–478.
- Scarpa, A., Raine, A., 1997. Psychophysiology of anger and violent behaviour. Psychiat. Clin. N. Am. 20, 375–394.
- Scher, M.S., 2008. Ontogeny of EEG-sleep from neonatal through infancy periods. Sleep Med. 9, 615–636.
- Schroeder, C.E., Lakatos, P., 2009. Low-frequency neuronal oscillations as instruments of sensory selection. Trends Neurosci. 32, 9–18.
- Schultz, W., 1998. Predictive reward signal of dopamine neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 80, 1–27.
- Schurmann, M., Basar-Erogly, C., Kolev, V., Basar, E., 2001. Delta responses and cognitive processing: single-trial evaluations of human visual P300. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 39, 229–239.
- Scott, J.C., Cooke, J.E., Stanski, D.R., 1991. Electroencephalographic quantitation of opioid effect: comparative pharmacokinetics of fentanyl and sufentanil. Anesthesiology 74, 34–42.
- Sebel, J.S., Bovill, J.G., Wauquier, A., Rog, P., 1981. Effects of high-dose fentanyl anesthesia on the electroencephalogram. Anesthesiology 55, 203–211.
- Selton, D., Andre, M., Hascoet, J.M., 2000. Normal EEG in very premature infants: reference criteria. Clin. Neurophysiol. 111, 2116–2124.
- Seri, S., Cerquiglini, A., Guidetti, V., 1993. Computerized EEG topography in childhood migraine between and during attacks. Cephalalgia 13, 53–56.
- Shufman, E., Perl, E., Cohen, M., Dickman, M., Gandaku, D., 1996. Electroencephalography spectral analysis of heroin addicts compared with abstainers and normal controls. Isr. J. Psychiatry Relat. Sci. 33, 196–206.
- Siegel, J.M., 2005. Clues to the functions of mammalian sleep. Nature 437, 1264-1271.
- Siever, D., Berg, K., 2002. Helping the heart with audio-visual entrainment. Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback 27, 313.
- Singer, W., 1999. Neuronal synchrony: a versatile code for the definition of relations? Neuron 24, 49–65.
- Siniatchkin, M., Gerber, W.D., Kropp, P., Vein, A., 1999. How the brain anticipates an attack: a study of neurophysiological periodicity in migraine. Funct. Neurol. 14, 69–77.
- Snidman, N., Kagan, J., Riordan, L., Shannon, D.C., 1995. Cardiac function and behavioral reactivity during infancy. Psychophysiology 32, 199–207.
- Soikkeli, R., Partanen, J., Soininen, H., Pääkkönen, A., Riekkinen, P., 1991. Slowing of EEG in Parkinson's disease. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 79, 159–165.
- Spanagel, R., Weiss, F., 1999. The dopamine hypothesis of reward: past and current status. Trends Neurol. Sci. 22, 521–527.
- Spironelli, C., Angrilli, A., 2009. EEG delta band as a marker of brain damage in aphasic patients after recovery of language. Neuropsychologia 47, 988–994.
- Stampfer, H.G., Basar, E., 1985. Does frequency analysis lead to better understanding of human event related potentials. Int. J. Neurosci. 26, 181–196.
- Steriade, M., McCarley, R.W., 2005. Brain Control of Wakefulness and Sleep. Springer, New York.
- Steriade, M., Gloor, P., Llinas, R.R., Lopes da Silva, F.H., Mesulam, M.M., 1990. Basic mechanisms of cerebral rhythmic activities. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 76, 481–508.
- Steriade, M., McCormick, D.A., Sejnowski, T.J., 1993a. Thalamocortical oscillations in the sleeping and aroused brain. Science 262, 679–685.
- Steriade, M., Nunez, A., Amzica, F., 1993b. A novel slow (<1 Hz) oscillation of neocortical neurons in vivo: depolarizing and hyperpolarizing components. J. Neurosci. 13, 3252–3265.
- Stevens, A., Batra, A., Kotter, I., Bartels, M., Schwarz, J., 2000. Both pain and EEG response to cold pressor stimulation occurs faster in fibromyalgia patients than in control subjects. Psychiatry Res. 97, 237–247.

- Stickgold, R., Walker, M.P., 2005. Memory consolidation and reconsolidation: what is the role of sleep? Trends Neurosci. 28, 408–415.
- Strejkowa, A., Servit, Z., 1973. Isolated head of the turtle. A useful experimental model in the physiology and pathophysiology of the brain. Physiol. Bohemoslovaca 22, 37–41.
- Striedter, G.F., 2005. Principles of Brain Evolution. Sinauer Associates, Sutherland, MA.
- Sudarsky, L., 1990. Pathophysiology of the Nervous System. Little, Brown, and Company, Boston.
- Synytsky, V.N., Gruzdev, G.M., Trofimchouk, G.E., Voronovskaya, V.I., Tetko, I.V., Villa, A.E., 2002. Neurophysiological and psychophysiological effects of sulpiride in the norm and in patients with opiate addiction. Neurophysiology 34, 313–320.
- Tanaka, H., Hayashi, M., Hori, T., 1997. Topographical characteristics and principal component structure of the hypnogogic EEG. Sleep 20, 523–534.
- Tasali, E., Leproult, R., Ehrmann, D.A., Van Cauter, E., 2008. Slow-wave sleep and the risk of type 2 diabetes in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 1044–1049.
- Tauber, E.S., Roffwarg, H.P., Weitzman, E.D., 1966. Eye movements and electroenceohalogram activity during sleep in diurnal lizards. Nature 212, 1612–1613.
- Thayer, R.E., 1989. The Biopsychology of Mood and Arousal. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Thomaides, T., Tagaris, G., Karageorgiou, C., 1996. EEG and topographic frequency analysis in migraine attack before and after sumatriptan infusion. Headache 36, 111–114.
- Tolonen, U., Sulg, I.A., 1981. Comparison of quantitative EEG parameters from four different analysis techniques in evaluation of relationships between EEG and CBF in brain infarction. Electroenceph. Clin. Neurophysiol. 51, 177–185.
- Tononi, G., Cirelli, C., 2006. Sleep function and synaptic homeostasis. Sleep Med. Rev. 10, 49–62.
- Torsvall, L., Åkerstedt, T., 1988. Extreme sleepiness: quantification of EOG and spectral EEG parameters. Int. J. Neurosci. 38, 435–441.
- Tremblay, L.K., Naranjo, C.A., Graham, S.J., Herrmann, N., Mayberg, H.S., Hevenor, S., 2005. Functional neuroanatomical substrates of altered reward processing in major depressive disorder revealed by a dopaminergic probe. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 62, 1228–1236.
- Urretavizcaya, M., Moreno, I., Benlloch, L., Cardoner, N., Serrallonga, J., Menchon, J.M., Vallejo, J., 2003. Auditory event-related potentials in 50 melancholic patients: increased N100, N200 and P300 latencies and diminished P300 amplitude. J. Affect. Disord. 74, 292–297.
- Valladares-Neto, D.C., Buchsbaum, M.S., Evans, W.J., Nguyen, D., Nguyen, P., Siegel, B.V., Stanley, J., Starr, A., Guich, S., Rice, D., 1995. EEG delta, positron emission tomography, and memory deficit in Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychobiology 31, 173–181.
- Varela, F., Lachaux, J.P., Rodriguez, E., Martinerie, J., 2001. The brainweb: phase synchronization and large-scale integration. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2, 229–239.
- Vassalli, A., Dijk, D.J., 2009. Sleep function: current questions and new approaches. Eur. J. Neurosci. 29, 1830–1841.
- Velikova, S., Locatelli, M., Chiara Insacco, C., Smeraldi, E., Comi, G., Leocani, L., 2010. Dysfunctional brain circuitry in obsessive–compulsive disorder: source and coherence analysis of EEG rhythms. NeuroImage 49, 977–983.
- Vertes, R.P., Siegel, J.M., 2005. Time for the sleep community to take a critical look at the purported role of sleep in memory processing. Sleep 28, 1228–1229.

- Victor, S., Appleton, R.E., Beirne, M., Marson, A.G., Weindling, A.M., 2005. Spectral analysis of electroencephalography in premature newborn infants: normal ranges. Pediatr. Res. 57, 336–341.
- Vladimirova, G., 1991. Development of the electroencephalographic rhythms of wakefulness in healthy infants during their first year. Acta Physiol. Pharmacol. Bulg. 17, 13–20.
- Volavka, J., Zaks, A., Roubicek, J., Fink, M., 1970. Electrographic effects of diacetylmorphine (heroin) and naloxone in man. Neuropharmacology 9, 587–593.
- Vorria, P., Rutter, M., Pickles, A., Wolkind, S., Hobsbaum, A., 1998. A comparative study of Greek children in long-term residential group care and in two-parent families: I. Social, emotional, and behavioural differences. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 39, 225–236.
- Wacker, J., Dillon, D.G., Pizzagalli, D.A., 2009. The role of the nucleus accumbens and rostral anterior cingulate cortex in anhedonia: integration of resting EEG, fMRI, and volumetric techniques. NeuroImage 46, 327–337.
- Wade, T.R., Wit, H.D., Richards, J.B., 2000. Effects of dopaminergic drugs on delayed reward as a measure of impulsive behavior in rats. Psychopharmacology 150, 90–101.
- Walker, J.M., Berger, R.J., 1973. A polygraphic study of the tortoise (*Testudo den-ticulata*): absence of electrophysiological signs of sleep. Brain Behav. Evol. 8, 453–467.
- Ward, A.S., Haney, M., Fischman, M.W., Foltin, R.W., 1997. Binge cocaine selfadministration by humans: smoked cocaine. Behav. Pharmacol. 8, 736–744.
- Warner, B.F., Huggins, S.E., 1978. An electroencephalographic study of sleep in young caimans in a colony. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 59, 139–144.
- Wauquier, A., Bovill, J.G., Sebel, P.S., 1984. Electroencephalographic effects of fentanyl-, sufentanil- and alfentanil anesthesia in man. Neuropsychobiology 11, 203–206.
- Will, U., Berg, E., 2007. Brain wave synchronization and entrainment to periodic acoustic stimuli. Neurosci. Lett. 424, 55–60.
- Yamamoto, S., Matsuoka, S., 1990. Topographic EEG study of visual display terminal (VDT) performance with special reference to frontal midline theta waves. Brain Topogr. 2, 257–267.
- Yang, C.C., Lai, C.W., Lai, H.Y., Kuo, T.B., 2002. Relationship between electroencephalogram slow-wave magnitude and heart rate variability during sleep in humans. Neurosci. Lett. 329, 213–216.
- Yang, C.C., Shaw, F.Z., Lai, C.J., Lai, C.W., Kuo, T.B., 2003. Relationship between electroencephalogram slow-wave magnitude and heart rate variability during sleep in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 336, 21–24.
- Yasuda, T., Yoshida, H., Garcia-Garcia, F., Kay, D., Krueger, J.M., 2005. Interleukin-1β has a role in cerebral cortical state-dependent electroencephalographic slowwave activity. Sleep 28, 177–184.
- Zadina, J.E., Hackler, L., Ge, L.-J., Kastin, A.J., 1997. A potent and selective endogenous agonist for the m-opiate receptor. Nature 386, 499–502.
- Zijlmans, J.C., Pasman, J.W., Horstink, M.W., Stegeman, D.F., van Hof, M.A., Poortvliet, D.J., Notermans, S.L., Jonkman, E.J., 1998. EEG findings in patients with vascular parkinsonism. Acta Neurol. Scand. 98, 243–247.
- Zillman, D., 1983. Arousal and aggression. In: Green, R.G., Donnerstein, E.I. (Eds.), Aggression: theoretical and empirical reviews, vol. 1. Academic Press, New York, pp. 75–101.
- Zuckerman, M., 1994. Behavioural Expressions and Biosocial Bases of Sensation Seeking. Cambridge University Press, New York.